# **TYPE 2 DIABETES EXACERBATES BONE LOSS IN**

# NATIVE AMERICAN WOMEN

By

# MISTI J. LEYVA

Bachelor of Arts in Psychology Texas Tech University Lubbock, Texas 1990

Master of Science in Nutritional Sciences University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 2001

> Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY May, 2012

# TYPE 2 DIABETES EXACERBATES BONE LOSS IN

# NATIVE AMERICAN WOMEN

Dissertation Approved:

Dr. Brenda J. Smith

Dissertation Adviser

Dr. Nancy Betts

Dr. Janice Hermann

Dr. Christine Johnson

Outside Committee Member

Dr. Sheryl A. Tucker

Dean of the Graduate College

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Background Problem Statement Purpose Hypotheses and Specific Aims Limitations Delimitations	1 4 4 6 6
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	7
Bone Tissue	7
Osteoporosis Defined	8
Risk Factors for Osteoporosis	9
Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes	15
Obesity and Bone Health	19
Type 2 Diabetes and Bone Integrity	23
Factors Affecting Bone Strength	24
Type 2 Diabetes and Bone Metabolism	27
Native Americans and Osteoporosis Risk	29
III. METHODOLOGY	32
Research Design	32

Chapter
---------

IV.	FINDINGS	37
	Description of the Study Population	37
	Bone Densitometry	42
	Biochemical Markers of Bone Metabolism	46
(	Cytokines and Complete Blood Count	48
	Vitamin D	52
<b>V</b> . ]	DISCUSSION	54
VI.	CONCLUSION	60
	Summary	60
]	Purpose	61
	Hypotheses	61
	Hypothesis 1	61
	Hypothesis 2	62
	Hypothesis 3	62
]	Recommendations	62
REF	FERENCES	64
APF	PENDICES	93
A	. DXA Measurement of the Hip Regions at Baseline and Final Visit	94
В.	. DXA Measurement of the Spine and Forearm at Baseline and Final Vis	it95
C.	. Consent Form	96
D.	. Medical History Form	101
E.	. Tribal Representation Form	105

# LIST OF TABLES

Table Page	
1. Baseline Descriptive Characteristics of Groups According to Diabetes Mellitus (DM Status	<b>(I</b> )
3. Frequency of Osteopenia and Osteoporosis of the Hip, Spine and Forearm by Diabetes Status	
<ul> <li>4. Percent Change in Bone Mineral Area, Content, Density and T-scores from Baselin to Final Visit According to Diabetes Status</li></ul>	ne 1d

# LIST OF FIGURES

# Figure

1. BMD of the total hip, intertrochanter, trochanter and femoral neck regions of the hip.
2. BMD of the total lumbar spine and distal forearm
3. BMD values of total hip, intertrochanter and trochanter at final visit44
4. Percent change in BMD of total hip and intertrochanter region of the hip over one
year46
5. Serum C-telopeptide of type I collagen (CTX) concentrations at baseline and final
visits47
6. Serum bone alkaline phosphatase (BAP) concentrations at baseline and final visit.
7. Serum TNF- $\alpha$ concentrations at baseline and final visit for non diabetic (Non DM),
all diabetic (All DM), diabetic less than 10 years duration from diagnosis (DM<10) and
diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM≥10) groups
8. Serum IL-6 concentrations at baseline and final visit for non-diabetic (Non DM), all
diabetic (All DM), diabetic less than 10 years duration from diagnosis (DM<10) and
diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM≥10) groups
9. Correlation of CTX to TNF- $\alpha$ in the non diabetic (Non DM) group and the all
diabetic (All DM) group at baseline visit
10. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations of non diabetic (Non DM), all diabetic
(All DM), diabetic less than 10 years from diagnosis (DM<10) and diabetic 10 years or
greater post-diagnosis (DM≥10) groups at baseline and final visits

# CHAPTER I

# INTRODUCTION

# Background

Native Americans are often recognized for honoring traditions and preserving the culture of individual tribes (1-3). However, in recent generations there has been an extrinsic attribute invading Native cultures in the form of pervasive health disparities and chronic disease. Numerous obstacles including mistrust from previous scientific exploitation, linguistic and cultural dissimilarities, lack of culturally grounded theory and methods, and limited or selective access to community members, have impeded research in this population (4). One of these chronic diseases is type 2 diabetes which is associated with a state of low-grade, chronic systemic inflammation (5). Evidence demonstrates a relationship between type 2 diabetes and multiple microvascular (e.g. retinopathy and neuropathy) and macrovascular complications (e.g. coronary heart disease) and, more recently, an increased risk of bone fracture has been suggested (6-8). Because the prevalence of type 2 diabetes is high among Native Americans (i.e. ~ 2 times the national average) (9) and the availability of evidence regarding bone health is limited in this population, there is an emergent need to investigate the relationship between bone health and type 2 diabetes in Native Americans.

Osteoporosis is a skeletal condition often characterized by normally mineralized bone tissue but

decreased bone mass (10). The structural integrity of trabecular, or spongy bone may be compromised, causing it to lose elasticity and cortical bone, may become more porous and thin. While thinner bone alone is not necessarily more prone to fracture, bone that is both thinner and has compromised biomechanical properties is more prone to fracture (11). Osteoporosis is reportedly responsible for more than 1.5 million fractures in the U.S. annually and carries an estimated health care cost of \$16.9 billion making this a major medical problem (12). Lifestyle factors including smoking, low levels of weight-bearing physical activity and compromised nutritional status can further contribute to fracture risk. Estimates from the 2004 Surgeon General's Report (13) indicate half of all women >50 years of age will experience an osteoporosis-related fracture during their lifetime.

Osteoporosis is diagnosed based on the occurrence of osteoporotic-related fracture or by assessment of bone mineral density (BMD), which accounts for approximately 70% bone strength, and fracture incidence (14). According to the World Health Organization (WHO) criteria, individuals with a BMD 2.5 standard deviations or more below the mean value for young, healthy, Caucasian women (i.e. Tscore of < -2.5 SD) are considered osteoporotic (15;16). The most widely validated method for assessing BMD is an areal assessment dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (17).

A misconception exists that osteoporosis is always a result of bone loss, when in fact bone loss is a common occurrence as both women and men age. Women however, typically have a lower peak bone mass than men (18) and experience rapid bone loss during the first 5-10 years of the postmenopausal period (19). The combination of bone loss relative to peak bone mass and the rate of postmenopausal bone loss results in an increased risk for fracture in women earlier than men. The hormonal changes associated with menopause (e.g., decrease in estrogen and increase in follicle stimulating hormone) can lead to a disruption of normal bone metabolism which is described as a dynamic, lifelong process involving the coordinated activities of bone-resorping osteoclasts and bone-forming osteoblasts (20). The bone remodeling cycle is regulated not only by hormones, but also cytokines (e.g., interleukin or

(IL)-6 and tumor necrosis factor (or TNF- $\alpha$ ) and growth factors (21;22). These regulatory proteins can be influenced by a number of factors, including nutritional status (e.g. compromised vitamin D status), physical activity, age and illness, which subsequently alter bone turnover (23). When considering that type 2 diabetes also has a profound impact on many of these same nutritional, cytokine and hormonal factors the consequences on bone remodeling have the potential to be significant (24). This relationship is in part the impetus behind an increasing interest in the effects of type 2 diabetes on bone health.

Several studies have provided clinical evidence of an increased fracture risk in type 2 diabetics compared to the general public (7;8;25-31). Results of the Iowa Women's Health Study reported a 1.70-fold increased risk of hip fracture in post-menopausal women with type 2 diabetes compared to their non-diabetic counterparts (25). Duration of diabetes appeared causative to even higher risk for hip fracture, considering those women 13 to 40 years post-diagnosis had a 2.30-fold higher risk for hip fracture relative to women without diabetes. The increased risk for hip fracture was observed in both obese participants, known to benefit from greater skeletal loading, as well as non-obese women with type 2 diabetes (25). A higher fracture risk among type 2 diabetics was also found in the Health, Aging and Body Composition Study (Health ABC) (26). Results of this biracial cohort of elderly men and women demonstrated that type 2 diabetes was associated with a 64% increase in incident clinical fractures compared to non-diabetics. Participants in this study with type 2 diabetes had similar BMD and significantly higher body weight, BMI, lean and fat mass, visceral fat and fasting insulin compared to their non-diabetic counterparts. These studies provide data in support of an increased risk of fracture in the type 2 diabete population.

Native Americans are a high-risk population for type 2 diabetes. Data from the 2005 Indian Health Services (IHS) user population database indicate that 16.5% of the total adult population served by IHS had diagnosed diabetes compared to 7.8% of the total U.S. adult population (9). In addition to diabetes, factors such as smoking (32) and low serum vitamin D (33) contribute as risk factors for

bone fracture in this population. Unfortunately, there is a paucity of data regarding Native American women and bone health substantiating increased risk. In the National Osteoporosis Risk Assessment (NORA), Native Americans represented 0.9% of the total population. Results from this study indicated that body weight could explain differences in BMD found among White, Native American, Hispanic and Asian women (34). Among limitations identified in this study were selection bias due to eligibility criteria, reliance on self-reported information and insufficient numbers (34). Other data from the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) suggest that overall, American Indian/Alaska Natives (AI/AN) and non-Hispanic white women had similar BMDs, after adjusting for age, education, and years of hormone therapy (35). Both the NORA and WHI reports represent large scale research studies that acknowledge as limitations the low or insufficient number of Native American participants and eligibility criteria excluding diabetics from participation.

## **Problem Statement:**

Despite these efforts to examine the risk of osteoporosis in Native American's, the issue of fracture risk and the potential influence of type 2 diabetes on bone health in this population remains to be addressed.

#### **Purpose:**

The purpose of this study is to examine the effects of type 2 diabetes and diabetes duration on bone health compared to non-diabetics in Native American women over 50 years of age. To accomplish this purpose the following hypotheses have been developed.

# Hypotheses and Specific Aims:

*Hypothesis 1:* Change in BMD from baseline to final visit, one year later, will be greater in those women with type 2 diabetes and especially those women who have been diabetic for ten or more

years compared to their non-diabetic counterparts. To test this hypothesis the following specific aims have been developed:

*Specific Aim 1a:* To examine differences in change in BMD between diabetics and non diabetics by performing DXA scans of the three principal sites of osteoporotic fracture, spine, total hip and forearm, at baseline and at one year follow-up.

Specific Aim 1b: To examine differences in change in BMD between diabetics stratified by duration of diabetes diagnosis ( $<10 \text{ or } \ge 10 \text{ years}$ ) and non diabetics over a one year period.

*Hypothesis 2:* Type 2 diabetics will demonstrate alterations in bone metabolism consistent with increased bone resorption and decreased bone formation rates from baseline to final visit, compared to non-diabetics. These alterations in bone metabolism will be more pronounced in longer duration type 2 diabetics (i.e.,  $\geq 10$  yrs). The following aims have been developed to test this hypothesis:

*Specific Aim 2a:* To evaluate differences over time in serum markers of bone resorption, as indicated by C-telopeptide or CTX in type 2 diabetics compared to non diabetics.

*Specific Aim 2b:* To evaluate differences over time in serum markers of bone formation as indicated by bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (BAP) in type 2 diabetics compared to non diabetics.

Specific Aim 2c: To evaluate differences over time in serum CTX and BAP in diabetics stratified by duration of diabetes diagnosis (<10 or  $\geq$ 10 years) compared to non diabetics.

*Hypothesis 3:* The mechanisms by which type 2 diabetics will experience accelerated bone loss will be mediated by an increased inflammatory state and compromised vitamin D status. The increased inflammatory state and compromise in vitamin D status will be exacerbated in longer duration diabetics. The following aims have been developed to test this hypothesis:

*Specific Aim 3a:* To examine differences in change in serum IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  in type 2 diabetics vs. non-diabetics between baseline and final visits.

*Specific Aim 3b:* To examine differences in change in monocyte and lymphocyte percentage and absolute counts based on complete blood counts (CBC) in type 2 diabetics vs. non-diabetics between baseline and final visits.

*Specific Aim 3c:* To evaluate differences in change in vitamin D status via 25-hydroxyvitamin D3, in type 2 diabetics vs. non-diabetics over time.

*Specific Aim 3d:* To examine differences in change in inflammatory indices and vitamin D status when type 2 diabetics are stratified by duration of diabetes diagnosis (<10 or  $\ge$ 10 years).

# Limitations:

Some of the limitations of this study include external validity due to the small (N=123), unique sample (stratified by diabetes diagnosis) available for the study. Therefore, results may not be generalizable beyond the specific population from which the sample was drawn. Additionally, the accuracy of results such as medical history, medications and supplements, and calcium intake was dependent on the self-report of the participants. Data provided that were crucial to the accuracy of this study included diabetes diagnosis and blood quantum information.

## **Delimitations:**

This study is delimited to Native American women, who were 50 years of age and older and eligible to receive services at an Indian Health Clinic. The study was delimited to examination of changes in BMD, measures of bone formation and resorption, vitamin D status and markers of inflammation over the duration of one year to determine the impact of type 2 diabetes on bone health. Due to the large number of potential participants in the study population, recruitment efforts were concentrated within the state of Oklahoma.

# CHAPTER II

## **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

# **Bone Tissue**

Bone is a living, dynamic tissue that is constantly renewed, resulting in complete turnover of the adult skeleton every 10 years (36). Bone tissue is generally classified into two types, cortical and trabecular bone, which are identical in their chemical composition. Cortical bone is a dense, compact structure, highly resistant to bending and torsion, and except for the periosteum, has a slow turnover rate. It constitutes the diaphysis of long bones and the outer part of all skeletal structures. It functions primarily to provide mechanical strength and protection to vital organs. Trabecular bone is less dense, more elastic and has a higher turnover rate than cortical bone. Anatomical sites rich in trabecular bone include the epiphyses and metaphyses of the long bones and it is also the major component of the ribs, the shoulder blades and the flat bones of the skull. In addition to providing strength and support for the body, bone serves as a site for development and storage of blood cells. Bone accumulates micro-damage from loading, but is unique in its ability to self-repair (37-39). The complexities and processes involved in the anabolic and catabolic aspects of bone metabolism (i.e., formation by osteoblasts and resorption by osteoclasts), and the influence of nutritional and environmental factors all contribute to the susceptibility for diseases and disorders to potentially affect bone health.

#### **Osteoporosis Defined**

Osteoporosis is a skeletal disorder characterized by compromised bone strength with a consequent increased risk of fracture (40;41). Prediction of fracture risk is a key element in fracture prevention. As a result, the definition of osteoporosis has evolved over the years in an effort to improve predictive ability.

In 1941 Fuller Albright, a research endocrinologist, observed thinning bones in women following menopause (42). He was the first to propose that estrogen deficiency played a primary role in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Albright's definition of osteoporosis was described as "too little calcified bone" due to the osteoblast's inability to lay sufficient osseous matrix (42).

It was not until 1994 that osteoporosis was formally defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) in terms of BMD and fracture history (15). This was a result of the efforts of an international panel of scientific experts to assess fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis. The panel considered several approaches to defining osteoporosis based on bone mineral measurement, but each failed to overcome the problem of overlap in BMD between those who have and those who have not suffered fragility fractures. The determination was made that bone mineral assessment may provide an index of risk, much as hypercholesterolemia is a risk for coronary heart disease, but that index was not reflective of all elements of risk. Subsequently the panel established four general diagnostic categories for women based on bone mineral content and proximity to the young adult reference mean. These categories include normal, osteopenia, osteoporosis and severe osteoporosis (43). The panel further emphasized the importance of distinguishing between the diagnostic use of BMD measurements by providing information concerning the presence or absence of osteoporosis with the cut-off values chosen, and the prognostic use whereby bone density values are considered a risk factor (43).

#### **Risk Factors for Osteoporosis**

The 1994 report of the international WHO conference identified the role of osteoporosis in predicting fracture risk (43). Because no obvious warning signs precede the clinical manifestation of osteoporosis, identification of risk factors for reducing fracture risk was considered of great importance.

Thus osteoporosis, once viewed primarily as a natural occurrence of aging, was now recognized as a condition that can stem from suboptimal bone mineralization during childhood and adolescence (44-47), or from bone loss later in life. Bone health is influenced by factors both modifiable and non-modifiable.

# Modifiable Risk Factors

Among the factors affecting bone health that are modified or controlled is diet. A diet low in calcium and vitamin D has been shown to increase risk of osteoporosis and fractures (48-51). A low calcium intake can contribute to osteoporosis and fracture risk by enhancing parathyroid hormone (PTH) release from the parathyroid glands, resulting in excessive bone turnover in favor of bone resorption and eventual bone loss. Studies have demonstrated that calcium supplementation for elderly women are associated with a reduction in bone resorption and a partial suppression of serum PTH (52;53).

Vitamin D, well known for enhancing calcium absorption in the gut, is also critical for maintenance of bone mass through its actions on other cellular processes such as bone mineralization. Vitamin D facilitates bone mineralization at the osteoblast level by enhancing differentiation and stimulates proximal tubular phosphate reabsorption in the kidney. The latter function enhances bone mineralization by contributing phosphate, one of the two principal crystalline salts deposited in the mineralized matrix of bone. The combination of calcium and phosphate with hydroxide form hydroxyapatite crystals, which constitutes the mineral phase of bone tissue (54). A meta-analysis performed by Papadimitropoulos et al. (55), examined all randomized placebo-controlled trials of vitamin D and its analogs over the last two decades. They reported a significant reduction in spine fractures (i.e., 37% risk reduction) in women taking vitamin D compared to placebo. Other research supporting beneficial effects of dietary calcium and vitamin D includes Chapuy et al. (48) who dispensed 800 international units (IU) of cholecalciferol or vitamin D3 and 1200 mg of calcium to nursing home residents for 18 months. A 35% reduction in the occurrence of hip fractures was reported with this supplement regimen (48). Similarly, Dawson-Hughes et al. (49) reported that elderly men and women treated with 700 IU of cholecalciferol plus 500 mg of calcium citrate a nearly 50% reduction in nonvertebral fractures (49). Thus supporting the effectiveness of adequate consumption of calcium and vitamin D.

Physical activity is also a modifiable risk factor that affects bone remodeling (56-60). The microgravity environment of space flight is an extreme example of deficient weight-bearing activity, which results in a significant decrease in bone formation (61;62). Skeletal unloading has been shown to decrease osteoblast activity and number (63-70), which according to Garetto et al. (71) is likely due to a decreased proliferation of osteoprogenitor cells. The weightless environment of space has also been shown by Smith et al. (72) to affect bone resorption. This was demonstrated based on astronauts' post flight elevation (50-125%) in urinary collagen cross-links (N-telopeptide [NTX], deoxypyridinoline [DPD], and pyridinoline [PYD]). A somewhat less extreme example of the effect of inactivity is found in bed rest where the rate of loss has been observed to be one to two percent per month (73). In contrast, Howe et al. (74) demonstrated in an extensive review that weight-bearing exercise had a significantly greater effect on BMD in post-menopausal women compared with controls who did not exercise.

#### Non-Modifiable Risk Factors

Apart from modifiable risk factors are those that cannot be controlled. These risk factors include among others, gender, age and race. There is evidence to support the relationship between menopausal status and BMD thus contributing to the greater risk of development of osteoporosis in women than men. Results of numerous studies have demonstrated a negative association between either menopausal status or years post-menopause and BMD (75-80). Two separate studies of the same population reported that post-menopausal status was associated with a decrease in both femoral neck and spinal BMD (75;76). Mizuno et al. (80) also reported that after menopause, BMD of the lumbar spine (L2-4) decreased more rapidly than other anatomical sites. The correlation coefficient between lumbar spine BMD and lumbar spine/total body BMD ratio was 0.746, indicating that a decreasing ratio of lumbar spine (L2-4) BMD was more prominent than that of total body BMD. Perimenopause, defined as the two to eight year period preceding menopause and one year following the last period, is marked by an increase in bone loss which is a result of increased bone resorption (81). Greater bone loss is observed in trabecular-rich regions compared to sites higher in cortical bone due to the larger surface area over which osteoclasts can attach and degrade bone. The result of perimenopausal bone loss is demonstrated in the fractures occurring in early menopause in the trabecular-rich skeletal regions of the distal forearm and vertebrae (82).

Although differences in BMD between men and women may explain in part the gender-related differences in fracture rates, it is also possible that differences in both BMD and fracture rates may be attributed to differences in bone size and geometry (83-86). The geometry and structure of bone have been increasingly recognized as important risk factors for fracture including the role of puberty on bone growth. It has been shown that the length and width of bone increase progressively throughout the pre-pubertal period, in both sexes (87). Because boys enter puberty approximately two years later than girls, boys can acquire greater long bone length before puberty

(88). Gender-related differences in bone width are more apparent after puberty as demonstrated by periosteal growth. This enlargement in bone diameter is the result of bone formation beneath the periosteal envelope causing a widening of the diaphysis of the bone and stimulating longitudinal bone growth (88). This process is accelerated by puberty in males, but inhibited during puberty in females due to the increases in circulating estrogen (87). These differences in bone development contribute to the greater attainment of peak bone mass in males which is considered a major determinant of bone mass and fracture risk in later life (89).

Age represents another non-modifiable risk factor for osteoporosis. A progressive reduction in BMD with aging has been documented at nearly every skeletal site (90), however fracture risk has shown an increase with age independent of BMD (91). Other factors influenced by age include degree of mineralization, microfracture, number and frequency, skeletal geometry and periosteal response to trabecular bone loss. Additionally, greater periosteal apposition has been demonstrated more in aging men than women. This contributes to a greater net bone loss in women compared with men (92) which may in turn propagate the higher fracture rate seen in women.

Race is another risk factor for osteoporosis. Although each group is comprised of unique characteristics that set them apart from the others, one of the challenges of examining racial differences is the absence of an obvious or uniform method of classification of individuals into such groups. Racial differences in bone health have been associated with several key features. Differences in body size (93;94), bone size (95), rate of skeletal loss (96-99), and hip geometry (100-103) have all been reported to partially explain observed differences in fracture risk among races. These differences have multifactorial explanations including differences in bone metabolism (104) and pubertal onset (105). Longitudinal data with baseline BMD and fracture outcomes for nonwhites are limited and it is also unknown whether T-scores obtained by BMD measurement in nonwhite women have the same value in terms of fracture prediction (106). It is

important therefore, for future osteoporosis research to continue to examine variables that contribute to observed racial differences.

Gastrointestinal conditions are also included among the non-modifiable risk factors for osteoporosis. Underlying in many conditions is malabsorption of vitamins and minerals, particularly vitamin D (107) and calcium (108). There is consistent evidence of a reduction in BMD in patients with both Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis resulting from a decrease in bone formation and an increase in bone resorption (109-111). Calcium malabsorption in gastrointestinal conditions has been associated with steatorrhea, alteration in the calcium-transport mechanisms, and lack of vitamin D (112-116). Contributing to vitamin D malabsorption are chronic pancreatic insufficiency, intrinsic small bowel disease, disorders of the biliary tract, and surgical bypass procedures of the jejunum and ileum. Leichtmann et al. (117) reported the small intestine involvement in Crohn's disease leads to an increase in vitamin D malabsorption and subsequently increased bone loss. In fact vitamin D deficiency in Crohn's has been shown to be a predictive factor for osteoporosis and osteopenia (117;118).

In addition to malabsorption, gastrointestinal conditions including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and celiac disease increase fracture risk through the chronic release of pro-inflammatory cytokines by immunologically competent cells. Osteotropic cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 are involved in both normal and abnormal bone remodeling, and increased cytokine production in chronic inflammatory diseases is associated with increased bone loss (119;120).

Endocrine disorders contribute to osteoporosis risk via the role of hormonal regulation of the bone remodeling cycle. For example, the chronic secretion of PTH (i.e., hyperparathyroidism) or the continuous infusion of PTH can lead to decalcification of bone and loss of bone mass. The regulation of calcium homeostasis is a process maintained in large part by PTH via secretion in response to very small decrements in blood ionized calcium. The action of PTH on calcium

homeostasis is accomplished by: 1) promotion of bone resorption (i.e., release of calcium from the skeletal reservoir); 2) induction of renal calcium conservation and phosphate excretion; and 3) indirect enhancement of intestinal calcium absorption by increasing the renal production of the active vitamin D metabolite, 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub> vitamin D. PTH has been shown *in vivo* to increase the numbers of osteoclasts as well as the resorptive activity of preformed osteoclasts (121).

One hormone that contributes as a risk factor for osteoporosis post-menopause is estrogen. A major physiological effect of this hormone is inhibition of bone resorption (122), as such it plays a regulatory role in osteoclast apoptosis (123). In estrogen deficiency, an increased number of osteoclasts and their extended longevity lead to increased bone resorption. In response to the increased bone resorption, there is increased bone formation and a high-turnover state develops favoring resorption and leading to rapid bone loss and perforation of the trabecular plates (124). In addition, estrogen elicits a protective effect on bone through its ability to decrease proosteoclastogenic cytokines. For example decreases in estrogen levels at menopause have been associated with an increase in serum interleukin 1 (IL-1), interleukin 6 (IL-6), interleukin 7 (IL-7) and TNF- $\alpha$  which are known to promote osteoclast differentiation and activity (125-127).

Another hormone influencing bone remodeling is insulin. Current evidence suggests insulin impacts bone development and physiology by regulating osteoblast function in the following manner. Osteoblasts express a functional insulin receptor (IR) and when primary osteoblasts or osteoblast-like cell lines are exposed to physiological levels of insulin, increases are observed in bone anabolic activity such as collagen synthesis (128;129) and alkaline phosphatase production (130). In addition, it has been demonstrated that patients with type 1 diabetes develop early onset osteopenia or osteoporosis (131;132), experience increased risk of fragility fracture (25;133) and exhibit poor bone healing and regeneration after injury (134). A recent discovery by Fulzele et al. (135) demonstrated that insulin suppresses the runt-related transcription factor 2 (Runx2) inhibitor Twist-related protein 2 (Twist2). Runx2 is a key transcription factor regulating gene

expression for several key bone proteins, including osteocalcin, osteopontin and osteoprotegeron (136-139). Twist2 inhibition in turn promotes osteoblast differentiation necessary for normal bone formation. In addition, previous clinical studies clearly demonstrate that an oral glucose load which increases insulin secretion suppresses markers of bone resorption by 50% (140). These findings provide a basis for the discrepancy in BMD between the type 1 and type 2 diabetic populations which is related to their opposing insulin-secretory states (i.e. hypoinsulinemia vs. hyperinsulinemia).

#### **Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes**

Obesity is a major public health problem in our society. According to data from the 1999-2000 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) (141) almost 65% of the adult population in the United States is overweight or obese (body mass index [BMI] 25-29.9;  $\geq$  30kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Health concerns related to increased prevalence of obesity stem from the accompanying increased risk of chronic disease, particularly type 2 diabetes (142;143).

In general, obesity is defined as excess adipose tissue. This tissue is found in the human body in two types, brown adipose tissue and white adipose tissue. Adipocytes found in brown adipose tissue are specialized primarily for non-shivering thermogenesis (144). Brown fat depots are present in human infants and recent evidence suggests that dispersed brown adipocytes might persist in adults (145). In contrast, white adipose tissue is the predominant type found in adults and is located just beneath the skin as subcutaneous fat, around the organs as visceral fat and within the bone marrow. Adipocytes found in white adipose tissue store dietary energy in the form of triglycerides, predominantly in single large, lipid droplets. The droplets' unique structure allow triglycerides to be rapidly hydrolyzed by lipases in a process known as lipolysis, and the resulting fatty acids are transported to other tissues to be oxidized in mitochondria for energy.

Adipose tissue is now considered the largest endocrine organ in the body (146). The endocrine action of adipose tissue is via adipocyte secretion of a number of protein factors, collectively referred to as adipokines which include growth factors (e.g., transforming growth factor (TGF)-β) and hormones (e.g., leptin and adiponectin). Leptin is well known for its regulatory role in energy metabolism by stimulating energy expenditure, inhibiting food intake and restoring euglycemia. In obesity however, leptin resistance often limits the effectiveness of this process (147-149). In contrast to leptin, adiponectin has been associated with an anti-inflammatory action (150) and when increased in plasma, has been independently associated with reduced risk of type 2 diabetes in healthy individuals (151).

Two other cytokines secreted by adipose tissue are interleukin (IL)-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ . Serum levels of these pro-inflammatory cytokines have been reported to be elevated in the obese (152;153), contributing to the concept that obesity and diabetes are characterized by a state of chronic low-grade inflammation (153-155).

A number of studies have demonstrated that TNF- $\alpha$  can impair insulin signaling in hepatocytes and adipose tissue (156-158). The underlying mechanism involves the inhibition of insulin receptor substrate (IRS) signaling capability. IRS proteins act as mediators of insulin signaling playing a central role in maintaining basic cellular functions such as growth and metabolism by acting as docking proteins between the insulin receptor and a complex network of intracellular signaling molecules. The inhibition of this signaling is thought to be achieved through the TNF- $\alpha$ activation of serine kinases such as the c-Jun-N-terminal kinase (JNK) (159;160). Although understanding of the signaling network of JNKs continues to evolve (161), JNK1 knockout mice have been shown to exhibit decreased adiposity and significantly increased insulin sensitivity (162). TNF- $\alpha$  also affects insulin action by reducing fatty acid oxidation in hepatocytes (163) and skeletal muscle (164). These affects are mediated by suppression of adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase (AMPK) via the up-regulation of protein phosphatase 2C (PP2C). In

skeletal muscles, AMPK stimulates glucose transport and fatty acid oxidation. In the liver, it decreases cholesterol and triglyceride synthesis, glucose output and augments fatty acid oxidation. The reduced rates of fatty acid oxidation subsequently increase accumulation of bioactive lipids, such as diacyglycerols (164), which in turn activates protein kinase C and inhibits IRS function (165).

The association between elevated serum IL-6 and insulin resistance is supported by epidemiological and genetic studies. IL-6 has been demonstrated to inhibit the insulin signaling pathway in adipocytes by up-regulating suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) 3 expression, which in turn impairs insulin-induced insulin receptor and IRS-1 phosphorylation (166-168), resulting in increased insulin resistance. Clinically, plasma IL-6 has been shown to positively correlate with both obesity and insulin resistance (169;170). In fact, Pradhan et al. (171) found elevated plasma IL-6 to be a predictive marker in the development of type 2 diabetes. The association between IL-6 and type 2 diabetes remained positive after adjusting for BMI, family history of diabetes, smoking, physical activity, alcohol use, and hormone replacement therapy. This finding supports the possibility of a causal relationship between IL-6 and the development of diabetes.

Although it may appear logical that adipose tissue expression of adipocytokines plays a role in the development of type 2 diabetes based on total adiposity, other factors such as the size of adipocytes and fat distribution may also contribute to insulin resistance. Recently, the influence of adipocyte size has been given much attention from the scientific community due to the discovery that larger adipocytes are more likely to become insulin resistant (172). For instance, in Pima Indians, who have a very high prevalence rate of type 2 diabetes, larger adipocytes were shown to have a greater propensity for insulin resistance, which led to reduced triglyceride and glucose clearance (173). These data indicated that large adipocytes and increased circulating fatty acids were independent predictors of diabetes risk in this population.

It has also been suggested that insulin resistance can be attributed to a defect in subcutaneous adipose tissue's ability to expand appropriately as indicated by telomere length (174-176), independent of body weight (177). In fact, hyperplastic obesity is typically more metabolically benign in terms of insulin sensitivity than fat hypertrophy (178). A study by McLaughlin et al. (179) aimed at identifying insulin-resistant individuals, found that 17% of the overweight and obese subjects were relatively insulin sensitive. Moreover, Karelis et al. (180) reported that approximately 20% of the general population were obese but metabolically healthy, which reinforces the influence of body composition in the development of diabetes.

Distribution of adipose tissue is also an important influence on insulin sensitivity. One area that has been studied for its influence on insulin resistance is adipose tissue of the visceral depots (181). Increased adiposity of the intra-abdominal fat area (IAFA) was found by Boyko et al. (182) to be predictive of diabetes incidence. This observation was independent of other measures of total and regional adiposity, family history of diabetes, gender, correlates of insulin resistance (fasting C-peptide) and glycemia (fasting glucose). This is consistent with other studies that have demonstrated visceral adipose tissue was significantly correlated with both insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (183-186). The primary regional difference between the two compartments appears to be in the rate of lipolysis (187). The rate of release of free fatty acids (FFAs) from stored triglycerides is higher in visceral adipocytes than subcutaneous where anti-lipolytic hormones, such as insulin, have a more pronounced effect (188). Because visceral fat drains into the portal vein, rapid visceral lipid metabolism results in the delivery of excessive amounts of FFA concentrations to the liver. This in turn leads to stimulation of gluconeogenesis, increased triglyceride synthesis and inhibition of insulin clearance. The result of these metabolic alterations may ultimately lead to the development of hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia (188).

#### **Obesity and Bone Health**

Obesity and its association with chronic diseases such as type 2 diabetes, hypertension, coronary heart disease and some cancers pose a serious health threat to our society (142;143). The association between obesity and skeletal health may not be as obvious. This is due in part to higher BMI values having been traditionally considered a protective feature against osteoporotic related fracture risk (189-192). In fact body weight and BMI are positively correlated to BMD (193-196) in adults (193;197-199). The increasing prevalence of obesity in our society however, does not support the beneficial effects of increased BMI on fracture prevention.

Epidemiologic studies have demonstrated some common genetic determinants between obesity and osteoporosis. Both adipocytes and osteoblasts originate from common progenitor, pluripotent mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) (200-202). The fate of these cells' differentiation is largely determined by the expression of transcription factors, Runx2 and peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPARγ). These transcription factors act as molecular switches to promote the direction of differentiation of precursor cells into osteoblast or adipocyte lineages, respectively (203-205). Animal models have demonstrated that decreased PPARγ activity leads to increased number of osteoblasts and bone mass (206;207). Inversely, increased PPARγ activity, related to antidiabetic treatment with the thiazolidinedione (TZD) drug rosiglitazone, has resulted in significant decreases in BMD, bone volume and changes in bone microarchitecture (208-211). This bone loss has been associated with a decreased number of osteoblasts and an increased number of adipocytes within the bone marrow (198;201). PPARγ expression has been found at its highest levels in white adipose tissue (212-215).

Another feature that highlights the relationship between obesity and the bone remodeling cycle is hormonal. The hormone leptin is secreted by adipocytes and well known for its role in the regulation of appetite and energy expenditure (216). More recently leptin has been examined for

its role in bone remodeling. The effects of leptin via a central hypothalamic pathway were first reported by Ducy et al. (216), wherein he described the action of leptin on neurons in the hypothalamus which has since been proposed to regulate bone mass as well (217). The mechanism by which leptin influences bone metabolism is at least in part through activation of hypothalamic nerves. This in turn stimulates sympathetic nerves extending into the bone and promoting the release of the neurotransmitter noradrenaline (217). Noradrenaline stimulates  $\beta$ 2adrenergic receptors (ADRB2). ADRB2 upregulation decreases osteoblast activity and bone formation, and increases bone resorption via receptor activator for nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) ligand (RANKL) production, which ultimately leads to trabecular bone loss (216-222). These complex interactions between fat, brain and bone are further explained by the effects of proinflammatory mediators (e.g., TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) on bone metabolism (223).

#### Obesity, IL-6 and Bone

Adipose tissue is responsible for secretion of one third of all circulating IL-6 which explains why overweight and obese adults and children generally have elevated serum IL-6 (153;224). Cytokines that promote bone resorption such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 also reportedly stimulate the synthesis of IL-6 in osteoblasts (225-227). In the context of chronic inflammation, the role of IL-6 is central to the pathogenesis of bone loss, exerting its effects as a potent stimulator of osteoclast-induced bone resorption (228). These effects are demonstrated in the osteopenia observed in transgenic mice overexpressing IL-6, characterized by severe alterations in cortical and trabecular bone microarchitecture. Also reported is the uncoupling of bone formation and resorption, evidenced by decreased osteoblast and increased osteoclast number and activity (228). The role of IL-6 in osteoporosis has been further highlighted in a study of the expression of key regulatory molecules of bone remodeling in fragility fracture patients who underwent total hip arthroplasty as a result of a femoral neck fracture (229). The fracture groups' expression of RANK and IL-6 were significantly elevated compared with an age-matched control group. IL-6

mRNA levels associated strongly with bone mRNA levels in the fracture group, but not in the control group (229). These findings suggest an association between IL-6 and the RANKL/RANK pathway and are consistent with studies in murine osteoblastic cell lines, where IL-6 has been shown to induce RANKL mRNA expression (230). It is thought that IL-6 utilizes the RANK/RANKL/OPG interaction to exert an indirect effect on osteoclasts by promoting activation and subsequent bone resorption. This effect has been proposed to occur via an interaction between IL-6 and osteoblasts, which may lead to increased osteoblastic RANKL production (231).

The effects of estrogen on IL-6 are seen in postmenopausal women as an increased secretion rate of IL-6 compared with baseline levels in cells from premenopausal women. Notably, the increase is found in the early post-menopause phase, but not in late years (232-234). Jilka et al.(125) have proposed that estrogen's affect on IL-6 is through inhibition of TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 stimulated IL-6 gene transcription by binding the estrogen receptor ligand complex to NF-kB, therefore preventing binding to the IL-6 promoter (235-240). Conversely, in an estrogen deficient state, the inhibitory effects of estrogens are removed, resulting in enhanced osteoclast development in the marrow. It is this increase in osteoclastogenesis that is responsible for the increased bone resorption and hence the loss of bone in the post menopausal state. This effect was demonstrated in ovariectomized mice where the increase in osteoclast number was prevented by treatment with a neutralizing anti-IL-6 antibody *in vivo* and in *ex vivo* cultures (126).

Obesity, TNF-a and Bone

TNF- $\alpha$  is another proinflammatory cytokine expressed and secreted by adipose tissue (241;242). Though numerous factors contribute to bone loss, TNF- $\alpha$  plays a central role in the pathophysiology by increasing bone resorption while simultaneously inhibiting bone-forming osteoblasts (243-250). The influence of TNF- $\alpha$  is exerted through increased osteoclastogenesis, decreased osteoblastogenesis and inducing vitamin D resistance (251). The effects of TNF- $\alpha$  serve as potent stimuli for bone loss that ultimately lead to bone microarchitectural deterioration and increased fracture risk that has been demonstrated in conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA), periodontitis, orthopedic implant loosening, and other forms of chronic inflammatory osteolysis (252-257).

The role of TNF- $\alpha$  as a stimulator of osteoclastogenesis has been confirmed by numerous investigators (125;258;259). Hematopoietic stem cells differentiate along the myelo-monocytic lineage toward an osteoclast phenotype under the influence of macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) and RANKL. RANKL is essential for the induction of osteoclast differentiation and supports survival of the mature functional osteoclast (260). TNF- $\alpha$  closely regulates RANK/RANKL-induced osteoclastogenesis, markedly increasing RANKL expression via its TNF type 1 receptor (TNFr1) previously shown to promote osteoclastogenesis (261;262). Following TNF- $\alpha$  and RANKL binding with their respective receptors, the transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B enters the nucleus and activates genes coding for the mature osteoclasts including tartrateresistant acid phosphatase (TRAP), and the receptors for calcitonin and vitronectin (263-266). NF- $\kappa$ B functions are required for osteoclast/macrophage development as evidenced in mice lacking the p50 and p52 subunits of NF- $\kappa$ B who fail to generate mature osteoclasts, leading to severe osteopetrosis or elevated BMD (266).

TNF- $\alpha$  has also been shown to impair the differentiation and function of osteoblasts (252). One mechanism by which TNF- $\alpha$  impairs bone formation is through the inhibition of osteoblast differentiation by suppression of Runx2 (267). Runx2 is a critical transcription factor in the regulation of MSC toward an osteoblast lineage (136;268) and required for the expression of alkaline phosphatase (138;139;170;269;270), an important enzyme involved in mineral deposition (271;272). Mice lacking tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase have impaired mineralization

(271). One of the hallmarks of bone formation is the increased expression of bone alkaline phosphatase (BAP) and bone specific isoforms can be measured in the serum (273).

A second mechanism by which TNF- $\alpha$  affects osteoblasts is by inducing resistance to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25(OH)2D3) the biologically active form of vitamin D. 1,25-(OH)2D3 is responsible for maintaining serum calcium and phosphorus in adequate concentrations to allow mineralization of the bone matrix (274). 1,25-(OH)2D3 also promotes differentiation of osteoblasts (275) and stimulates osteoblast expression of bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (121;276-278). TNF- $\alpha$ , however, has been shown to decrease the number of vitamin D receptors (VDR) post-transcriptionally and also 1,25(OH)2D3-stimulated receptor transactivation in osteoblasts (279;280). VDR's are required for normal 1,25(OH)2D3 function and vitamin D deficiencies and mutations in VDR lead to osteomalacia characterized by insufficient mineralization (281). Clearly, a greater understanding of the relationship between bone and fat at a molecular and cellular level would generate a better understanding of such processes as adipogenesis, lipid metabolism, and glucose homeostasis.

## **Type 2 Diabetes and Bone Integrity**

Although type 2 diabetes is often accompanied by normal or even high BMD, diabetes is associated with long-term increased risk of fracture (7;8). Until recently, diabetes was not generally considered a risk factor for fracture (282), and the studies designed to evaluate this association often produced conflicting results (8;29;283). In the Rotterdam Study (29), evidence for an association between type 2 diabetes and elevated bone density was found at the proximal femur and lumbar spine in both men and women. A lower frequency of fractures in women with type 2 diabetes was also reported, however, no consideration was given to duration of diabetes. Heath et al.(283) reported an elevated risk of ankle fractures among women with type 2 diabetes

but did not find a higher risk for other fracture sites. These results were not adjusted for body size or BMD.

To further examine the relationship between type 2 diabetes and risk of fractures among older women, Schwartz et al. (8) analyzed prospective data from the Study of Osteoporotic Fractures (SOF). In this cohort of 9,704 non-black women, aged 65 years and older, it was found that despite the elevated BMD in diabetic women, their risk of all non-spine fractures was increased above non-diabetic women. The increase in fracture risk has been reported to occur at approximately 12-14 years post diagnosis of diabetes (284). The apparent effects of prolonged diabetes were also seen in the Iowa Women's Health Study where diabetics 13-40 years post diagnosis displayed a much higher risk for hip fracture (RR 2.30, 95% CI 1.39-3.81) than nondiabetics (25). Similarly, increased fracture risk was also reported in the Rochester Epidemiology Project (285). In this study, relative risk estimates for overall fracture risk in type 2 diabetics were greater in the follow-up period beyond 10 years than in the first decade. For hip fractures specifically, the relative risks were 0.8 (95% CI, 0.6–1.1) for early follow-up, and 1.5 (95% CI, 1.1–2.0) for late follow-up. Among women, the estimated relative risk for hip fracture in late follow-up was 1.5 (95% CI, 1.04–2.1), whereas it was not increased in the first decade after the diagnosis of diabetes (SIR, 0.7; 95% CI, 0.5–1.03). A limitation of the previous studies is the omission of biochemical markers of bone turnover providing evidence of the metabolic changes in bone that contribute to the increased fracture risk.

The factors that contribute to greater risk of fractures reported in patients with advanced diabetes is uncertain, but may be due to prolonged exposure to hyperglycemia, the pro-inflammatory state, as well as detrimental effects of advanced glycation end products (AGE's) on bone. Whether it is a single factor or a combination of several factor, a disconnect seems to occur between fracture risk and BMD in this patient population.

#### **Factors Affecting Bone Strength**

#### Structural and Material Properties of Bone

Contributing factors that determine bone strength are not only the quantity of mineralized tissue, but also the quality of the bone (40). Subsequently, bone quality is determined by biomechanical properties and describes a relationship between forces (loads) applied to bone and the resulting deformation. It is important to further delineate biomechanical behaviors as material or structural. The former is described independent of its geometry and shape and reflects the intrinsic property of the matrix (i.e., mineral and protein matrix), whereas the whole-bone structural behavior is determined by different types of loads (e.g., bending or torsion). The outcomes of these two measures are influenced by both material properties and geometric distribution of tissue.

#### Advanced Glycation End Products and Bone Strength

Several studies have suggested that some of the variation in bone quality may occur within the material properties of the collagenous protein matrix (40;286-290). More specifically, accumulation of AGE's in bone collagen matrix has been linked to skeletal fragility (288;291;292). Type I collagen fibers, the basic building block of the bone protein matrix network, are packed together to form collagen fibrils, arranged in a three-dimensional concentric weave in bone (293;294). Their mechanical strength depends on a highly regulated mechanism of intermolecular cross-linking that improves bone's toughness or capacity to absorb energy (288). These collagen cross-links can be formed enzymatically (295-299) and by glycosylation or oxidation induce the formation of AGE's (291;300).

The mechanical effects of a collagen defect are most evident in diseases such as osteogenesis imperfecta (OI), where mutations in the type I procollagen gene leads to a marked increase in risk of fracture.

In contrast, the accumulation of excessive AGE cross-linking within collagen fibers is thought to deteriorate the mechanical function of bone (301). *In vitro* the cross-links are mediated by nonenzymatic glycation of bone collagen which is highly correlated with the stiffness of the organic matrix of bone (291). In turn, the increased stiffness of the organic matrix has been shown to reduce measures of collagen deformation and microcracking (291). Bone derives its resistance to fracture from collagen deformation (302) and from its ability to form microcracks during crack propagation (303). Collagen deformation and microcracking are the primary mechanisms of toughening in bone (304). Therefore, it is likely that *in vivo* accumulation of nonenzymatic glycation cross-links in collagen (305;306) may explain the loss of bone toughness based on a stiffer collagen network and loss of the collagen and micro-crack-based toughening mechanisms.

The formation and accumulation of AGE's occurs with aging at a constant but slow rate (307-309). This process is remarkably accelerated in type 2 diabetes due to the increased availability of glucose (310). The AGE, pentosidine, has been shown to accumulate within collagen fibers in senescence as a result of glycation and oxidation. The result of pentosidine accumulation is decreased mechanical properties of bone, in response to the reduction of collagen fiber elasticity (287;288;296). This effect was demonstrated by Saito et al. (311) in animals when comparing the bone content of pentosidine in non-diabetic Wistar rats to the spontaneously diabetic WBN/Kob rats. The Wistar rats served as age-matched controls and exhibited gradually increasing pentosidine accumulation in the bone with age, while the WBN/Kob rats increased pentosidine only after the onset of diabetes. Three-point bending test demonstrated the WBN/Kob rats experienced further reduction of cortical bone mechanical properties when compared to the subclinical diabetic stage. The compromise in bone biomechanical properties in the WBN/Kob rats occurred with no significant decrement in BMD (311). A similar decrease in bone biomechanical properties was reported in a study by Verhaeghe et al. (312) where diabetic

animals experienced a decrease in bone strength and toughness, and increased stiffness compared to the control cohort. Importantly, these changes in biomechanical properties were observed without a significant decrease in BMD or bone mineral content (BMC) (312).

## Assessment of Bone Strength in Humans

Results of mechanical tests in humans are limited due to the invasive nature of some procedures, but promising techniques including microindentation and nanoindentation are under development. Although outcomes remain to be validated, the former represents a first step toward *in vivo* characterization of tissue material properties. Other advantages include the relative ease of testing and the ability to make measurements in multiple locations within the tissue. A disadvantage of this technique is that its sole outcome is the tissue hardness (310). Nanoindentation advantages include the capability to measure the material properties of microstructural features such as lamellae (314;315) and to detect localized changes in bone material properties induced by disease or drug treatment (316).

Continued advances in mechanical assessment will only bolster a growing scientific interest in bone health. Furthermore, accumulating evidence highlights the need for a closer examination of the deleterious effects of diminishing bone quality to better understand the compromise in bone strength associated with type 2 diabetes.

#### **Type 2 Diabetes and Bone Metabolism**

Although patients with type 2 diabetes do not necessarily show a reduction in BMD, fracture risks are known to increase compared to their non-diabetic counterparts (27;30;317). The increase however occurs with duration and has shown to present approximately 10 years post-diagnosis (7;8;284;285). Though the exact mechanisms responsible for this alteration in metabolism remain in question, there are many factors that, over time, contribute to the uncoupling of bone formation and resorption and consequently to the pathogenesis of fractures. Among these factors are the

effects of chronic inflammation (5) and AGE accumulation on osteoclasts and osteoblasts, the result of which lead to poor bone quality and impaired micro and macroarchitecture (318). In addition, insulin has been reported to exert an effect on bone metabolism (319).

As previously mentioned, the diabetes-induced proinflammatory mediators TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 effect bone metabolism. One effect of IL-6 is through stimulation of osteoclast-induced bone resorption (228). An indirect effect utilizes the RANK/RANKL/OPG interaction on osteoclasts which promotes activation and subsequent bone resorption. The interaction is thought to be between IL-6 and osteoblasts, and results in an increased osteoblastic RANKL production (231). The influence of TNF- $\alpha$  is demonstrated through increased osteoclastogenesis, decreased osteoblastogenesis and induction of vitamin D resistance (251). These effects are potent stimuli for bone loss that ultimately lead to deterioration of bone microarchitecture and increased fracture risk (253-257).

The accumulation of AGE's in diabetic conditions is a key mechanism involved in the induction of oxidative stress via reactive oxygen species (ROS) (310). AGE's bind to AGE receptor (RAGE) which results in the generation of intracellular ROS through a nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase. The result of the increased ROS production on bone is seen in the inhibition of osteoblastic differentiation, increased osteoblast apoptosis and enhanced osteoclast activity (320). Mody et al. (321) demonstrated the influence of oxidative stress on osteoblast differentiation and activity using xanthine/xanthine oxidase (XXO) or hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) in a pre-osteoblast cell line ( i.e. MC3T3-E1) and a bone marrow stromal cell line ( i.e. M2-10B4). The pro-oxidants inhibited differentiation of osteoblasts, as assessed by their effect on alkaline phosphatase, a marker of osteoblast activity, reduced mineralization (321) and induced osteoblast DNA damage and apoptosis via activation of caspase-3 (322;323).

Results presented by Cortizo et al. (324) indicated that exposure of osteoblast-like cells to AGE modified proteins that regulate the expression of RAGE. Although RAGE was found to be expressed in all stages of osteoblastic development, it was only observed to regulate activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) at the later stages of development, when osteoblasts had matured. When mature MC3T3E1 osteoblasts were cultured 1–3 weeks in continuous contact with AGE-collagen to assimilate a chronic AGE's/RAGE interaction, the AGE's decreased osteoblastic ERK activation which was associated with a decrease in both cell survival and calcified nodule formation (325).

In addition to the effects on the osteoblast, oxidative stress has also been associated with enhanced bone resorption (326). Jagger et al. (327) recently reported that ROS may not increase *in vivo* bone resorption directly but rather indirectly by stimulating TNF- $\alpha$  expression. They suggest that ROS might augment osteoclast formation by directly acting on the intracellular signaling systems responsible for increased osteoclast formation.

Results of *in vitro* insulin analysis demonstrate an effect on bone metabolism as well. Reports of both decreased resorptive activity of osteoclasts and inhibition of osteoblast apoptosis in the presence of insulin have been documented (328-330). Insulin action on bone may involve direct signaling through the insulin receptor, activation of bone anabolic IGF-1 signaling by binding to IGF-1 receptor, or synergistic effects with other anabolic agents such as parathyroid hormone (PTH) (330;331). The role of insulin on bone metabolism is important due to the state of hyperinsulinemia experienced in the early onset of type 2 diabetes (332-334).

#### Native Americans and Osteoporosis Risk

To date, the majority of the osteoporosis-related research has focused on Caucasian populations with limited information available on other high risk ethnic groups such as Native Americans (335) and Canadian Aboriginals (336). The First Nations Bone Health Study (336) was performed in Canada to determine whether racial differences in body composition affect differences in BMD between Canadian White and Aboriginal women. Differences in BMD were not found between the two groups which left the question regarding the high fracture risk reported in Aboriginal women unanswered. The authors of the study indicated that there were several limitations, including a relatively small cohort and the study was underpowered for conducting age-specific analyses. Two large scale studies with relatively small Native American representation are the National Osteoporosis Risk Assessment (NORA) Study (34) and the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) Study (35). The purpose of NORA was to describe the relationship of BMD and 1-year fracture risk in a cohort of postmenopausal women of varied racial background. Findings from this study indicated that Native American's risk for osteoporosis is at least as great as their Caucasian counterparts. The data also revealed a self-reported fracture history of 15.3% among Native Americans, the highest group percentage in the cohort (34). The WHI Study was designed to compare BMD and determine differences between postmenopausal Native American and white women. Wampler and colleagues (35) found that mean total hip, spine, and whole body BMD's of Native American and white women were similar after controlling for age and BMI.

Limited information is available relative to the prevalence of osteoporosis, rate of bone loss and the influence of lifestyle factors in this population. Several risk factors, characteristic of Native Americans, contribute to a possible explanation as to why they may be considered at high risk for osteoporosis or increased fracture. Obesity is a significant health issue among Native Americans who have a 1.6 times greater likelihood of obesity than Non-Hispanic whites. According to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) in 2007, the age-adjusted percentage of Native American persons 18 years of age and over who were obese (i.e. BMI of  $\geq$  30) was 33.2% compared to 24.8% of whites (337), and the prevalence of obesity continues to increase (338). This observation was supported by data from the WHI Study where obesity (BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was twice as prevalent in Native American women (50%) than in non-Hispanic white women (25%)
(35). Another contributing factor in the Native American community affecting bone health is low serum vitamin D (33). An individual's vitamin D status depends mostly on exposure to sunlight and to a lesser extent on dietary intake of vitamin D. The synthesis of vitamin D by skin exposed to sunlight varies considerably due to factors such as skin pigmentation (339). Darker skin pigmentation results in lower cutaneous synthesis of cholecalciferol (339). This may contribute to findings by Perry et al. (33) of a decreasing serum 1,25-(OH)2D with increasing age in Native American women (33). A limited intake of dairy products, secondary to lactose malabsorption, may also exacerbate decreased serum vitamin D. Although the vitamin does not naturally occur in dairy products, it is a primary dietary food source due to its fortification. A study by Johnson et al. (340) demonstrated a 93% prevalence rate of lactose malabsorption among Native Americans (340). Vitamin D insufficiency has also been associated with diabetes (341). This becomes an important factor when considering Native Americans are a high-risk population for type 2 diabetes (9).

Statistics regarding Native American's risk for type 2 diabetes are alarming. Data from the 2005 IHS user database report 16.5% of the total adult population served by IHS had diagnosed diabetes (9). This is compared to 6.6% prevalence in non-Hispanic whites 20 years and older according to 2004–2006 national survey data (141).

Given the prevalence of type 2 diabetes (9), obesity (337) and decreased vitamin D status (33) in the Native American population, there is sufficient evidence in support of a thorough examination of these factor's and their metabolic impact on bone loss. The limited information available in this population imposes a daunting task to obtain basic knowledge of BMD, bone metabolism and inflammation for a better understanding of their association to bone health.

## CHAPTER III

#### METHODOLOGY

#### **Research Design**

This study was a longitudinal, causal-comparison design examining the extent to which type 2 diabetes alters bone density and metabolism in Native American women. Outcome measures were obtained at two time points (baseline and at one year follow-up or final visit) to examine changes occurring in bone formation, bone resorption and BMD between type 2 diabetics and non-diabetics that may have resulted from inflammatory processes. This subset of a larger, two year study to examine the incidence of osteoporosis in Native Americans, included those participants completing the first two visits (n=123). Only Native American women, defined by their eligibility to receive services at an Indian Health Clinic, who were 50 years of age or older and committed to all study visits, were included. Excluded from the sample due to the weight limitations of the DXA instrumentation were those whose body weight was 300 pounds or greater. Pregnant women, as determined by urine pregnancy test, were also excluded due to risk of radiation exposure to the embryo/fetus.

Participant recruitment involved a collaborative effort between the General Clinical Research Center's (GCRC) Special Populations Core and area Indian Health Clinic's medical treatment teams including physicians, nursing and auxiliary staff. The IHS clinics were provided information regarding the research study and were requested to inform eligible patients about the opportunity. In addition, the clinics agreed to post research flyers and assist interested participants in contacting the GCRC. Potential participants contacted the GCRC to schedule an appointment and receive initial instruction regarding participation. Follow-up visits were scheduled via telephone calls and email if requested by the participant. Follow-up visits were analogous to baseline and procedures performed at baseline (i.e. DXA scan, relevant medical history and anthropometric measures) were repeated. Serum samples collected at each visit were processed and stored for batch measures of indicators of bone metabolism (e.g. bone specific alkaline phosphatase and C-telopeptide), 25-hydroxy vitamin D3, and inflammatory mediators (e.g. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6).

All participants were encouraged to return to their respective clinics to discuss the results of their screening with their primary care physician.

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, IRB#13281 in reciprocal agreement with the Oklahoma State University IRB #HE0840 and Indian Health Services IRB #P-07-03-OK.

### **Data collection**

Upon arrival, informed consent was obtained and participants were asked about their tribal heritage and categorized by blood quantum (bq): bq1 represents <50%, bq2 represents 50-100% (where bq=100% is a full blood Native American). Relevant medical history and anthropometric measures were collected by the nursing staff. In consideration of cultural diversity, the blood draw was designated optional for participation and required specific selection on the subject consent.

*Medical History and Supplement Use:* Information obtained included medical history and medication and supplement use. The same form was used at the final visit to identify changes that may have occurred over time.

*Anthropometric Measurements:* Height and weight were measured at both visits. The protocol for assessing anthropometric measurements was adopted from the NHANES III survey. Waist and hip circumference were also measured to evaluate waist-to-hip ratio.

DXA Evaluation of Bone Density and Body Composition: The DXA measurements of each subject included the lumbar spine (L1-L4), hip, forearm, and whole body scans using a HOLOGIC 4500QDR/Delphi instrument (HOLOGIC, Inc., Waltham, MA). Available software calculates BMD (gm/cm<sup>2</sup>) by dividing BMC (in grams of calcium hydroxyapatite) by the area (cm<sup>2</sup>) of interest. Specific criteria for positioning subjects and for scan analysis were followed according to guidelines set forth by HOLOGIC. Instrument calibration, maintenance, and quality control were strictly maintained. All DXA scans were performed by the same certified bone densitometrist.

*Serum Biomarkers and Complete Blood Count (CBC):* Participants were presented the option of providing a blood specimen for serum analyses of inflammatory mediators, indices of bone metabolism, 25 (OH) vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, as well as an aliquot of whole blood for a CBC. Venous blood was collected at baseline and follow-up visits. Serum was separated within two hours of collection and aliquots stored at -80°C until the time of analysis.

Serum bone-specific alkaline phosphatase (BAP) was measured as an indicator of bone formation using commercially available enzyme immunoassay (EIA) kits (MicroVue, Quidel Corporation, San Diego, CA). Intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) were 5.8%, 3.9%, and 5.2% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively. Inter-assay CV's were 5.2%, 7.6%, and 5.0% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively.

Serum CTX was measured as an indicator of bone resorption using a commercially available ELISA assay (Immunodiagnostic Systems Inc. UK). Intra-assay CV's were 3.0%, 1.7%, and

1.8% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively. Inter-assay CV's were 10.9%, 9.7%, and 2.5% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively.

Alterations in vitamin D status were assessed by measuring serum  $25(OH)D_3$  using commercially available EIA kits (Immunodiagnostic Systems Inc. UK). The intra-assay CV's were 5.3%, 5.6%, and 6.7% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively. Inter-assay CV's were 4.6%, 6.4%, and 8.7% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively.

To examine the effects of inflammatory mediators, serum TNF-α and IL-6 were assessed. Serum IL-6 was measured using an ultra-sensitive sandwich-type ELISA assay (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). The intra-assay CV's were 6.9%, 7.8%, and 7.4% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively. Inter-assay CV's were 9.6%, 7.2%, and 6.5% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively.

Serum TNF-  $\alpha$  was measured by an ultra-sensitive ELISA sandwich assay (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). Intra-assay CV's were 8.5%, 4.3%, and 3.1% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively. Inter-assay CV's were 10.6%, 7.3%, and 7.4% at low, medium, and high concentrations, respectively.

A CBC, including total white cell counts and differentials were performed on fresh, whole blood samples to investigate the relationships between total and differential white cell populations, osteoporosis risk and inflammation.

## Data analysis

The data were analyzed using SAS version 9.2 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). Descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables in individuals with and without type 2 diabetes, stratified by duration of diabetes diagnosis (<10 or  $\geq$ 10 years) and included means and standard errors. A gamma statistic was used to determine frequency of osteopenia and osteoporosis at the

hip, spine and forearm sites in the population. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to detect differences between groups at baseline and final time points and change in measures of BMD, bone resorption and formation biomarkers, inflammatory markers and vitamin D status, followed by pair-wise comparisons. Primary outcome variables of interest were change in BMD observed from baseline, in the lumbar spine, hip and forearm. The secondary or explanatory outcome variables were biochemical markers of bone formation and bone resorption (i.e. BAP and CTX), inflammatory mediators (i.e. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) and vitamin D status. Covariates including age and blood quantum were considered. Pearson correlation analyses were performed among the dependent and independent variables (e.g. vitamin D status vs. change in BMD). For all analyses, alpha was set at 0.05 for statistical significance.

### CHAPTER IV

#### FINDINGS

### **Description of the Study Population**

In this longitudinal study, 123 Native American women completed a baseline and final visit. Baseline characteristics of participants without a previous diagnosis of type 2 diabetes (non DM) and those with a previous diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus (all DM) can be found in **Table 1**. Additionally, the all DM group is shown when stratified by years post diagnosis as either < 10years (DM<10) or  $\geq$  10 years (DM $\geq$  10) due to the potential for increased risk of fracture with longer diabetes duration. Mean participant age for the non DM and the all DM groups was 61.02  $\pm$  1.02 and 63.01  $\pm$  1.06 years, respectively and did not differ from one another. A comparison of years post menopause between groups also found no differences. When the diabetics were stratified by duration of diabetes, there remained no differences between groups in mean age, an unexpected outcome, as longevity of diagnosis may assume an advanced age. Not surprising however, were the anthropometric measures that were significantly higher in the all DM group, including weight, BMI and waist/hip ratio (WHR). Although these measures were not unexpected, they are relevant to this study due to the effects of weight-bearing on bone and chronic inflammation associated with obesity, especially increased central adiposity. The BMI results demonstrate that though the non DM group was categorically overweight (i.e., 25-29.9), the BMI of the all DM group was still higher and considered clinically obese (i.e.,  $\geq$  30). Not only

<b>▲</b>	Non DM <sup>1</sup>	All DM <sup>2a</sup>	$DM < 10^{3}$	<b>DM≥10</b> <sup>4</sup>	Р	Р
	( <b>n</b> =79)	( <b>n=44</b> )	(n=19)	(n=21)	(1vs2)	(1vs3vs4)
Age (years)	61.02±1.02	63.01±1.06	63.2±1.63	61.8±1.47	0.210	0.601
Years Post Menopause	$14.2 \pm 1.30$	$15.5 \pm 2.0$	16.2±2.3	14.1±3.6	0.560	0.788
Smoking <sup>b</sup> (%)	23±5	26±7	39±12	$15\pm8$	0.679	0.212
Packs/day	$0.60\pm0.12$	$0.59 \pm 0.12$	$0.54\pm0.13$	$0.57 \pm 0.43$	0.976	0.962
Anthropometrics						
Height (cm)	163±0.67	$160.7 \pm 0.92$	$160 \pm 1.52$	$161.8 \pm 1.33$	0.051	0.160
Weight (kg)	$74.9 \pm 1.70$	$88.8 \pm 2.22$	$86.6 \pm 3.88$	$91.7 \pm 2.68$	< 0.001	$<\!\!0.001^{*\dagger}$
Body Mass Index	$28.2 \pm 0.62$	$34.5 \pm 0.90$	33.9±1.6	35.1±1.1	< 0.001	$<\!\!0.001^{*\dagger}$
Waist/hip ratio	$0.87 \pm 0.01$	$0.91 \pm 0.01$	$0.91 \pm 0.01$	$0.92 \pm 0.02$	0.002	$0.003^{*\dagger}$
Trunk fat (kg)	$15.8 \pm 0.68$	$20.9 \pm 0.95$	$20.6 \pm 1.71$	$21.3 \pm 1.11$	< 0.001	$<\!\!0.001^{*\dagger}$
Body fat (kg)	$33.2 \pm 1.09$	$35.1 \pm 1.82$	$35.0 \pm 3.26$	$35.0 \pm 2.34$	0.333	0.675
Body lean (kg)	44.1±0.71	$44.8 \pm 0.99$	44.1±1.57	$45.2 \pm 1.45$	0.567	0.786
Daily Calcium intake						
From food (mg)	974±63	811±56	902±84	$755 \pm 80$	0.082	0.195
From supplements (mg)	450±83	410±101	630±206	227±81	0.762	0.152
Total (mg)	$1266 \pm 101$	$1126 \pm 109$	$1392 \pm 198$	939±121	0.372	0.176
Blood Quantum by DM Category <sup>c</sup>	35±0.05	$64 \pm 0.07$	53±0.12	76±0.10	0.002	$0.003^{\dagger}$
1= < <b>50%</b>	n=52	n=16	n=9	n=5		
2=≥50%	n=27	n=28	n=10	n=16		

Table 1. Baseline Descriptive Characteristics of Groups According to Diabetes Mellitus (DM) Status.

Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SE unless otherwise noted.

Non diabetic = non DM, all diabetic group = all DM, DM < 10 = diagnosed diabetes < 10 years,  $DM \ge 10$  = diagnosed diabetes  $\ge 10$ years

<sup>a</sup> Diabetes duration unknown in 4 participants. <sup>b</sup> Data presented as percent use  $\pm$  SE.

<sup>c</sup> Data presented as percent of participants categorized as BQ 2 ( $\geq$ 50%),  $\pm$  SE, within each DM category.

\* Denotes statistically significant differences (ANOVA, p<0.05) between non DM and DM<10

<sup>†</sup> Denotes statistically significant differences (ANOVA, p<0.05) between non DM and DM≥10

were there differences in weight and BMI between the all diabetic and non-diabetic groups, but the distribution of weight differed as well. This was demonstrated by the WHR which showed the increase in the deposition of adipose tissue in the abdominal region compared to the hips. This was further supported by a significantly greater amount of trunk fat in the all DM group when compared to the non DM. Also expected, these anthropometric differences remained following the stratification of the all DM group by diabetes duration.

Apart from anthropometric measurements, few baseline differences existed between groups despite comparisons of mean calcium intake and smoking predilection. One notable difference however, was blood quantum (BQ). That is to say, a greater number of individuals with a higher percent BQ were in the all DM group compared to the non DM group with 28 of the 44 participants (64%) at BQ  $\geq$ 50% (p=0.002). When the all DM group was stratified by duration, the difference remained and 16 of the 21 participants (76%) in the DM $\geq$ 10 were BQ  $\geq$ 50%.

Results of a self-reported medical history questionnaire demonstrated few significant differences between non DM and all DM groups (**Table 2**). This included medications such as bisphosphonates and hormone replacement therapies which can have beneficial effects on bone as well as fracture history and previous osteoporosis diagnosis. Although no significant differences existed between the non DM and all DM groups in terms of fracture history report, when the all DM group was stratified by diabetes duration, the self-report of vertebral fracture incidence was significantly higher in the DM<10 than either the non DM or DM≥10 groups (p=0.021). As anticipated, thiazolidinedione (TZD) use was significantly higher in the all DM group than the non DM group (2% vs11% p=0.039) and this medication has been shown to have a deleterious effect on bone. Comparisons of the frequency of osteoporosis between groups based on WHO Tscore classifications the hip, spine and forearm, demonstrate that there was no significant difference in the prevalence of osteoporosis due to diabetes or duration of diabetes at any of the sites (**Table 3**). These data do suggest a discrepancy between self-reported osteoporosis and

Â.	Non DM <sup>1</sup>	All DM <sup>2a</sup>	$DM < 10^{3}$	DM≥10 <sup>4</sup>	Р	Р
	( <b>n=79</b> )	( <b>n=44</b> )	( <b>n=19</b> )	( <b>n=21</b> )	(1vs2)	(1vs3vs4)
Osteoporosis Diagnosis <sup>b</sup>	11±0.04	16±0.06	11±0.07	$14\pm0.08$	0.479	0.922
Fracture History <sup>b</sup>						
Vertebral fracture	3±2	7±4	16±9	0	0.259	$0.021^{*\ddagger}$
Hip fracture	3±2	0	0	0	0.291	0.604
Medication Use <sup>c</sup>						
Bisphosphonate	8±0.03	5±0.04	$12\pm0.08$	0	0.654	0.393
Hormone Replacement Therapy	15±0.04	13±0.06	$12\pm0.08$	$18\pm0.10$	0.783	0.893
Thyroid hormone	26±0.05	32±0.08	24±0.11	35±0.12	0.528	0.695
Selective Estrogen Receptor	3±0.02	0	0	0	0.283	0.599
(SERMs)						
Thiazolidinedione's (TZDs)	2±0.02	11±0.05	$6\pm0.06$	$18\pm0.10$	0.039	$0.024^{\dagger}$
Selective Serotonin Reuptake	26±0.05	21±0.07	18±0.10	24±0.11	0.593	0.788
Inhibitors (SSRIs)						

Table 2. Self-Reported Osteoporosis Diagnosis, Fracture History and Medication Use of Groups by DM Status at Baseline.

Non diabetic = non DM<sup>1</sup>, all diabetic group = all DM<sup>2</sup>, diagnosed diabetes <10 years = DM<10<sup>3</sup>, diagnosed diabetes  $\ge 10$  years = DM  $\ge 10^4$ 

<sup>a</sup> Diabetes duration unknown in 4 participants.

<sup>b</sup> Data presented as percent occurrence,  $\pm$  SE.

<sup>c</sup> Data presented as percent use,  $\pm$  SE.

\* Denotes statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between non DM and DM<10

<sup>†</sup> Denotes statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between non DM and DM≥10

‡ Denotes statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between DM<10 and DM≥10

	N	Non DI (n=74	M <sup>1</sup>		All DN (n=38	$(1^2)$	I	DM<1 (n=17	<b>0</b> <sup>3</sup> /)	]	OM≥1 (n=21	<b>0</b> <sup>4</sup>	P (1vs2)	P (1vs3vs4)
Classification by T-score <sup>a</sup>	Ν	0	Ор	Ν	0	Op	Ν	0	Op	Ν	0	Op		
Total Hip	47	24	3	28	9	1	13	3	1	15	6	0	0.554	0.643
Total Spine	48	22	4	25	12	1	11	6	0	14	6	1	0.793	0.896
Total Forearm	24	38	12	14	15	9	7	4	4	7	9	5	0.441	0.750

Table 3. Frequency of Osteopenia and Osteoporosis of the Hip, Spine and Forearm by Diabetes Status.

Non diabetic = non DM<sup>1</sup>, all diabetic group = all DM<sup>2</sup>, diagnosed diabetes <10 years = DM<10<sup>3</sup>, diagnosed diabetes  $\ge 10$  years = DM  $\ge 10^4$ 

<sup>a</sup> Classification by T-score defined by the World Health Organization:

N = normal (> -1 standard deviation below the mean);

O = osteopenia (between -1 and -2.5 standard deviations below the mean);

Op = osteoporosis (< -2.5 standard deviations below the mean)



Figure 1. BMD of the total hip, intertrochanter, trochanter and femoral neck regions of the hip. Comparisons were made between non diabetic (Non DM) and all diabetic (All DM) groups at baseline and final visit. Bars indicate mean ± SE and \* indicates statistically significant difference (p<0.05) between groups.

osteoporosis observed in this study. The frequency of T-scores in the osteoporotic range is greater than identification by the participants, most notably in the forearm.

## **Bone Densitometry**

Results of DXA measurements revealed significant differences in the hip region between the non DM and all DM groups (**Figure 1**). BMD was significantly higher in the all DM group compared to the non DM group at both time points in the intertrochanter and at the final visit in the total hip. In contrast, no significant differences in BMD were observed in either the lumbar spine or distal forearm (**Figure 2**). Differences in BMD between groups can often be explained by alterations in BMA and/or BMC, but no significant differences were observed in either of these measures at the intertrochanter or total hip at either time point in this study (**Appendix A**). This



Figure 2. BMD of the total lumbar spine and distal forearm. Comparisons were made between non diabetic (Non DM) and all diabetic (All DM) groups at baseline and final visit. No statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were observed between non DM and all DM groups at either time point. Bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SE.

observation suggests that modest changes in BMA and BMC were likely responsible for the significant change in BMD. To examine the effects of diabetes duration on BMD in the hip, the all DM group was stratified (**Figure 3**). A significantly higher BMD value was observed in the DM<10 group compared to the non DM and DM  $\geq$ 10 groups in the final visit at both the intertrochanter and total hip sites. Stratification also revealed a significantly higher BMD in the trochanter region in the DM<10 group compared to the non DM and DM  $\geq$ 10 groups. No statistically significant differences were noted in either the lumbar spine or forearm with stratification by duration of diabetes diagnosis. When adjustments were made for age and BQ, the BMD differences between groups observed at the hip (i.e., total hip, intertrochanter and trochanter) were not altered, but the increase in femoral neck BMD in the DM < 10 group compared to the non DM and DM  $\geq$  10 groups. (p=0.035) (*data not shown*).



Figure 3. BMD values of total hip, intertrochanter and trochanter at final visit. Comparisons were made between non diabetic (Non DM), diabetic less than 10 years duration from diagnosis (DM<10) and diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM $\geq$ 10) groups. Bars indicate mean ± SE and statistically significant differences (p<0.05) denoted \*.

Based on the usefulness of the WHO classifications of T-scores as an indicator of fracture risk (17), it is important to note that both total hip and intertrochanter T-scores were significantly greater in the all DM group at both time points as was the femoral neck T-score greater in the same group at the final visit. Results of the forearm measures actually showed the mean T-score for all groups (i.e., non DM, all DM, DM<10, and DM≥10 groups) to be in the osteopenic range (i.e., T-score <-1.0) at both baseline and final visits. Results were similar when adjusted for age and BQ as well. Findings in the lumbar spine more closely resembled those of the forearm than the greater weight-bearing sites of the hip in that no significant differences in T-scores existed between any of the groups.

DXA results at each site were also analyzed to assess percent change over time (**Table 4**). The only statistically significant differences noted were the increased rate of change in the all DM

	Non DM <sup>1</sup>	All DM <sup>2a</sup>	<b>DM</b> <10 <sup>3</sup>	<b>DM≥10</b> <sup>4</sup>	Р	Р
	( <b>n=79</b> )	( <b>n=44</b> )	(n=19)	( <b>n=21</b> )	(1vs2)	(1vs3vs4)
Total Hip						
BMA	$1.005 \pm <.004$	$1.011 \pm 0.007$	$1.019 \pm 0.012$	$1.006 \pm 0.007$	0.239	0.318
BMC	$1.012 \pm 0.006$	$1.009 \pm 0.010$	$1.030 \pm 0.019$	$0.994 \pm 0.010$	0.952	0.259
BMD	$1.007 \pm <.004$	$1.033 \pm 0.036$	$1.088 \pm 0.078$	$0.988 \pm 0.007$	0.688	$0.024^{*\ddagger}$
<b>T-score</b>	$1.012 \pm 0.088$	$0.952 \pm 0.132$	$0.757 \pm 0.151$	1.163±0.239	0.640	0.338
Intertrochanter						
BMA	$1.015 \pm 0.009$	$1.021 \pm 0.014$	$1.034 \pm 0.025$	$1.017 \pm 0.017$	0.717	0.686
BMC	$1.023 \pm 0.010$	$1.019 \pm 0.015$	$1.047 \pm 0.028$	$1.003 \pm 0.016$	0.859	0.328
BMD	$1.008 \pm 0.004$	$1.018 \pm 0.030$	$1.074 \pm 0.062$	$0.970 \pm 0.019$	0.669	$0.022^{*\ddagger}$
<b>T-score</b>	$1.070 \pm 0.065$	$0.940 \pm 0.159$	$0.980 \pm 0.224$	$0.906 \pm 0.268$	0.373	0.676
Total Spine						
BMA	$0.999 \pm 0.003$	$1.001 \pm 0.006$	$0.992 \pm 0.010$	$1.008 \pm 0.010$	0.534	0.150
BMC	$0.999 \pm 0.005$	$1.003 \pm 0.009$	$0.995 \pm 0.016$	$1.014 \pm 0.012$	0.454	0.241
BMD	$0.999 \pm 0.004$	$1.003 \pm 0.005$	$1.005 \pm 0.009$	$1.006 \pm 0.007$	0.488	0.600
<b>T-score</b>	$1.023\pm0.120$	0.699±0.136	$0.526 \pm 0.272$	$0.815 \pm 0.122$	0.090	0.146
Forearm						
BMA	$1.004 \pm 0.002$	$0.997 \pm 0.003$	$0.994 \pm 0.005$	$1.001 \pm 0.004$	0.026	0.085
BMC	$0.994 \pm 0.003$	$0.989 \pm 0.004$	$0.994 \pm 0.007$	$0.988 \pm 0.006$	0.162	0.217
BMD	$0.990 \pm 0.002$	0.991±0.003	$0.998 \pm 0.005$	$0.987 \pm 0.004$	0.820	0.157
<b>T-score</b>	0.999±0.124	$1.019 \pm 0.114$	$1.020 \pm 0.034$	$0.877 \pm 0.219$	0.921	0.881

Table 4. Percent Change in Bone Mineral Area, Content, Density and T-scores from Baseline to Final Visit According to Diabetes Status.

Data are presented as percent change  $\pm$  SE.

Non diabetic = non DM, all diabetic group = all DM, DM < 10 = diagnosed diabetes < 10 years,  $DM \ge 10$  = diagnosed diabetes  $\ge 10$  years

<sup>a</sup> Diabetes duration unknown in 4 participants.

\* Denotes statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between non DM and DM<10

‡ Denotes statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between DM<10 and DM≥10



Figure 4. Percent change in BMD of total hip and intertrochanter region of the hip over one year. Comparisons were made between non diabetic (Non DM), diabetic less than 10 years duration from diagnosis (DM<10) and diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM≥10) groups. Bars indicate percent change ± SE and statistically significant differences (p<0.05) denoted between\*.

group compared to the non DM group in the BMA of the forearm (p=0.026) and the femoral neck T-score (p=0.033) (*data not shown*). Both of these affects were lost when the all DM group was stratified by diabetes duration. An interesting observation resulting from the stratification was a change in BMD in the total hip and intertrochanter regions (**Figure 4**). Here the percent change in the DM<10 group was significantly greater than the change observed in the BMD of the non DM and DM  $\geq$ 10 groups. This result was not seen in the lumbar spine or forearm.

#### **Biochemical Markers of Bone Metabolism**

Baseline and final visit comparisons of serum CTX were made to examine differences between diabetics and non-diabetics and the effects of diabetes duration on bone resorption and bone

formation. A significantly lower serum CTX was observed in the all DM group compared to the non DM group at the baseline (p=0.006), but not at the final visit (**Figure 5**). Following stratification of the all DM group, a significantly lower concentration of CTX in the DM<10 group compared to the non DM group (p=0.031) was observed. Statistical significance was not reached when assessing the percent change in CTX between the non DM and all DM groups (p=0.072) or when the all DM group was stratified by diabetes duration (p=0.295) (*data not shown*).





Serum BAP reflects osteoblast activity, and was therefore used as an indicator of bone formation. Comparisons of serum BAP between diabetics and non-diabetics at baseline and final visits were not different, nor did they differ following stratification of the all DM group by duration of diabetes diagnosis (**Figure 6**). Additionally, no differences were observed when serum BAP was evaluated based on the percent change over time. Negative correlations were observed in the all DM group between CTX and forearm BMD at both time points but no significant relationship in percent change between CTX and BAP and BMD at any site was noted. When the all DM group was stratified by diabetes duration, a single



Figure 6. Serum bone alkaline phosphatase (BAP) concentrations at baseline and final visit. Comparisons were made between non diabetic (Non DM), all diabetic (All DM), diabetic less than 10 years duration from diagnosis (DM<10) and diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM $\geq$ 10) groups. No statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were observed between groups at either time point. Bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SE.

correlation was noted as a negative relationship between CTX and forearm BMD at baseline in

the DM <10 group. These data indicate that the only site in which the anticipated negative

relationship between bone resorption and BMD was observed was at the least weight-bearing

skeletal site.

## **Cytokines and Complete Blood Count**

Results of the serum cytokine TNF- $\alpha$  (**Figure 7**) assessment revealed no significant differences between the all DM and non DM groups, or when the all DM group was stratified by diabetes



Figure 7. Serum TNF- $\alpha$  concentrations at baseline and final visit for non diabetic (Non DM), all diabetic (All DM), diabetic less than 10 years duration from diagnosis (DM<10) and diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM≥10) groups. No statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were observed between groups at either time point. Bars indicate mean ± SE.

duration at either the baseline or final visit. In addition no observable differences in TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 were noted between groups when results were assessed for percent change (*data not shown*). When the cytokine IL-6 (**Figure 8**) was assessed, results again revealed no significant differences between the all DM and non DM groups, or when the all DM group was stratified by diabetes duration at either the baseline or final visits.

Lymphocyte percent was significantly lower in the all DM group compared to the non DM group at the final visit, but this effect was lost when the diabetic group was stratified (**Table 5**). No other differences in lymphocyte absolute counts or percent were observed between groups. Monocyte absolute counts and percent were not different between any groups. It is important to note that all mean lymphocyte and monocyte counts were within normal limits.



Figure 8. Serum IL-6 concentrations at baseline and final visit for non-diabetic (Non DM), all diabetic (All DM), diabetic less than 10 years duration from diagnosis (DM<10) and diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM≥10) groups. No statistically significant differences (p<0.05) were observed between groups at either time point Bars indicate mean ± SE.

The pro-inflammatory cytokines present in chronic disease such as diabetes have also been associated with a decrease in bone formation and increase in bone resorption that may ultimately lead to bone loss. A positive correlation between TNF- $\alpha$  and CTX (p=0.005) was demonstrated at baseline in the non DM group but not in the all DM group (**Figure 9**). No correlation between BAP and TNF- $\alpha$  was observed in either the non diabetic or all diabetic groups (*data not shown*). Positive correlations between BAP and CTX were noted in the non DM, all DM and DM<10 groups at baseline, however, this was not the case for the DM≥10 group (*data not shown*). Somewhat unexpectedly, no correlations between metabolic markers were identified in the DM≥10 group at either visit.

<b>Table 5. Serum Markers of Inflammation</b> ,	Lymphocyte and Mono	ocyte Counts at Baseline	and Final Visit According to
Diabetes Status.		-	_

	Non DM <sup>1</sup> (n=79 )	$\begin{array}{c} \text{All } \text{DM}^{2a} \\ \text{(n= 44)} \end{array}$	$DM < 10^{3}$ (n= 19)	DM≥10 <sup>4</sup> (n= 21)	P (1vs2)	P (1vs3vs4)
Pro-inflammatory Cytok	ines					
Tumor Necrosis Facto	or					
(TNF)-α						
<b>Baseline</b> (pg/mL)	$1.54 \pm 0.11$	$1.59 \pm 0.10$	$1.46\pm0.11$	$1.7\pm0.18$	0.733	0.619
Final (pg/mL)	$1.47 \pm 0.08$	$1.55 \pm 0.08$	$1.49\pm0.11$	$1.58\pm0.14$	0.609	0.873
Interleukin (IL)-6						
<b>Baseline</b> (pg/mL)	$2.48 \pm 0.42$	$3.64 \pm 0.55$	3.0±0.59	$4.6 \pm 1.02$	0.102	0.088
Final (pg/mL)	2.88±0.33	3.85±0.77	3.0±0.45	4.9±1.6	0.171	0.096
<b>Blood Count Percent</b>						
LYMPH						
<b>Baseline</b> (%)	30.3±0.92	28.8±1.1	28.2±1.3	30±1.7	0.367	0.537
Final (%)	$31.5 \pm 1.05$	$28.6 \pm 0.86$	27.6±1.09	29.5±1.5	0.041	0.097
MONO %						
<b>Baseline</b> (%)	7.3±0.25	$7.0\pm0.28$	7.1±0.49	6.9±0.4	0.523	0.762
Final (%)	7.4±0.26	7.5±0.39	8±0.66	7.1±0.51	0.998	0.486
Blood Count Absolute Co	ounts					
LYMPH #						
Baseline (µL)	$1.95 \pm 0.07$	2.04±0.12	1.9±0.13	$2.2\pm0.22$	0.537	0.358
Final (µL)	$1.94 \pm 0.07$	2.0±0.14	$1.8\pm0.11$	$2.1\pm0.28$	0.696	0.380
MONO #						
Baseline (µL)	$0.47 \pm 0.02$	$0.48\pm0.03$	$0.44 \pm 0.04$	$0.51 \pm 0.05$	0.773	0.473
Final (µL)	0.46±0.02	0.49±0.02	0.49±0.03	0.49±0.04	0.236	0.533

Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SE. Non diabetic = non DM, all diabetic group = all DM, DM<10 = diagnosed diabetes <10 years, DM  $\ge$ 10 = diagnosed diabetes  $\ge$ 10 years. <sup>a</sup> Diabetes duration unknown in 4 participants. No statistical differences were found (p<0.05).



Figure 9. Correlation of CTX to TNF- $\alpha$  in the non diabetic (Non DM) group and the all diabetic (All DM) group at baseline visit. A significant positive correlation was observed in the Non DM group that was not present in the All DM group. Linear correlations were evaluated by Pearson's correlation coefficient.

### Vitamin D

Given vitamin D's relationship with calcium homeostasis and bone metabolism, differences in serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D were examined between groups. No differences in serum vitamin D between any of the groups were noted at either time point (**Figure 10**). Based on the mean value of the non DM group and the DM<10, both groups' vitamin D status exceeded 50 nmol/L, the serum value recommended by the Institute of Medicine (IOM) to sustain bone density, calcium absorption, and to minimize risk of osteomalacia and rickets (342). However, the DM≥10 group in this study did not reach recommended serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D levels at either time point which suggests that the longer duration diabetic may be at greater risk for compromised vitamin

status. Data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) demonstrate the national average serum 25- hydroxyvitamin D in similar age (i.e., 70.6 nmol/L) and diabetes (i.e., 63.4 nmol/L) (343) categories exceed that of the non DM and all DM groups.



Figure 10. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations of non diabetic (Non DM), all diabetic (All DM), diabetic less than 10 years from diagnosis (DM<10) and diabetic 10 years or greater post-diagnosis (DM≥10) groups at baseline and final visits. For visual comparison, results from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) of adults 50-69 years of age from NHANES III (NHANES Ages 50-69) and NHANES III adults diagnosed with diabetes (NHANES DM) are shown. The black vertical bar at 50 nmol/L 25-hydroxy vitamin D indicates Institute of Medicine (IOM) recommended serum levels. Bars indicate mean ± SE.

## CHAPTER V

#### DISCUSSION

This study was designed to examine the effects of type 2 diabetes and diabetes duration on bone health in Native American women. It is important to note that this study was part of a larger study to examine the incidence of osteoporosis in Native American women over the age of 50 in the state of Oklahoma. BMD was the primary outcome variable in this study and represents a means of assessing fracture risk.

The findings of this study demonstrate that BMD differences did occur between diabetics and non-diabetics and more specifically in the hip regions. This effect appears to be biphasic as BMD was increased in the hip region the first ten years following diagnosis and decreased in the same region, after the initial decade. Although greater rate of change in BMD in the DM group was anticipated, it was not expected to continue to increase. This demonstration of both greater BMD and increased rate of change in the DM<10 group suggests that detrimental metabolic changes in bone, specific to the hip regions, occurred at some point after the first decade following diabetes diagnosis. A possible explanation for this biphasic effect could be related to the compensatory hyperinsulinemia accompanying the onset of type 2 diabetes in an effort to lower blood glucose levels (332-334). The ability of insulin to stimulate collagen production by osteoblasts has been

well documented and the effect has been observed at physiological insulin concentrations (133;344-346).

The increased BMD in the DM<10 group however, was characterized by no change in serum BAP and decreased serum CTX compared to the other groups which suggests that bone formation was constant while resorption was attenuated. This effect has been documented in transgenic L-SACC1 mice with liver-specific overexpression of mutant of the Carcinoembryonic Antigenrelated Cell Adhesion Molecule 1 (CEACAM1). These mice have decreased CTX that was attributed to impaired insulin clearance. The resulting high levels of insulin in this animal model were shown to affect recruitment and differentiation of osteoclasts by impairing RANKL signaling (319). Although insulin was not measured in the current study, a similar impaired insulin clearance has been previously reported in type 2 diabetics (347;348)

Over time a decline in  $\beta$  cell number and function results in decreased circulating insulin. This may explain the latter phase of this effect when BMD was reduced in the DM  $\geq$ 10 longer duration diabetics and the rate of change returns to one more closely related to the non-diabetic group. With diabetes duration, the bone made dense by resorption impairment in the first decade is more likely to have structural irregularities affecting strength. This could be due in part to the accumulation of AGEs that have been observed in obese mouse models of type 2 diabetes and resulted in reduced bone strength (349). The alterations in BMD observed in the current study are in agreement with other studies conceding that the onset of increased fracture risk (8;285) and even fracture incidence (25;284) in type 2 diabetes occurs 10 years or more post-diagnosis. This has also been demonstrated specific to race in populations including Asian (350), Hispanic (351) and Norwegian (352;353) where results show that the risk of hip fracture was higher among people with diabetes than without and this risk increased with duration of diabetes diagnosis. Differences in self-reported fracture of the hip were not detected between groups in the current study, although participants were asked to respond to questions regarding fracture history.

Importantly, this study was not powered to evaluate fracture incidence and thus the absence of a difference between groups could be expected. Emerging evidence in studies powered to detect differences in fracture incidence however, has shown that patients with type 2 diabetes have higher fracture rates (1.4-fold) in spite of the absence of a reduction in BMD (30). This suggests that BMD values in diabetics, 10 years or longer, that are similar to non diabetics of a similar age group may not adequately reflect bone fragility.

In this study, differences in BMD between groups were observed in the hip regions alone and could be attributed to this regions primary function of weight bearing. Weight was not considered as a covariate in the current study due to its influence on type 2 diabetes. The lumbar spine also has a role in weight bearing, but has been shown to respond to different forces than those applied to the hips. If differences in the hip were due to weight bearing influences, this would explain why forearm BMD's were similar between groups.

Although BMD remains a useful measurement for fracture prediction in the non-diabetic population, these findings suggest a need to clarify the use of standard methods for assessing fracture risk using BMD in type 2 diabetes due to biphasic effects of diabetes with duration.

At this time it remains unclear exactly why BMD is not an accurate predictor of long-term fracture risk in the diabetic population. Animal studies using experimental models of diabetes have suggested that with diabetes duration bone structure is altered in a way that increases stiffness and compromise overall bone strength (291). This idea of compromised bone quality provides a possible explanation of the paradox of an increased risk of fractures in type-2 diabetics in the presence of normal or elevated BMD (354;355).

Examination of the current findings revealed a significantly lower serum CTX in the DM<10 group when compared to the non-diabetic group at some time points. It could be postulated that the lower concentration of CTX seen in the DM<10 group was responsible for the increased

BMD in the hip regions. Consensus has yet to be reached as to the explanation of the effects of diabetes on bone metabolism. Oz et al. (356) examined bone biomarkers in men and women, diabetic and controls and observed that the serum BAP and CTX in the diabetics were significantly lower than the non diabetic controls. When the same markers were evaluated according to gender, it was discovered that only CTX was reduced in the male diabetic population whereas the diabetic women experienced a reduction in BAP only. Other studies have reported significantly elevated BAP in type 2 diabetics over non diabetic counterparts (357-359). Bone biochemical markers have been shown to differ among ethnic groups (360), but no data is available to determine if differences exists among Native American populations. The bone biochemical marker data in this study suggest a decrease in bone resorption with no change in bone formation in the DM<10 group, but further examination of bone biochemical markers in Native American women is warranted.

No differences between groups were observed in serum IL-6 or TNF- $\alpha$ . In addition, no correlations existed between markers of metabolism and cytokines in the diabetic groups. Although numerous factors can influence serum levels of these cytokines it is possible that the observed outcomes were an indication that mechanisms affecting bone metabolism in non-diabetic models may not function the same in a diabetic environment. It is noteworthy that much of the research related to the effects of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 have been demonstrated in non-diabetic models. An example of this influence of TNF- $\alpha$  on increased osteoclastogenesis, has been demonstrated in *in vitro* models (361;362), and with TNF- $\alpha$  infusion in normal (363;364) and nude mice (365). In addition to its effects on osteoclastogenesis, TNF- $\alpha$  also suppresses osteoblastogenesis as demonstrated *in vitro* (256-259) and in transgenic mouse models (366). A similar outcome was reported with IL-6 overexpression in transgenic mice resulting in increased osteoclast and decreased osteoblast number and activity (228). However, in all of these cases, the effects of TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 were reported in the context of a non-diabetic model. These examples

illustrate that less is known about the relationship between inflammatory mediators and bone metabolic processes in the diabetic. Based on observations such as the biphasic response of BMD in the hip in this study, it appears that type 2 diabetes potentially represents a unique scenario relative to bone metabolism. Therefore more research is required so that therapeutic approaches can be developed to prevent or reduce the number of fractures in this population.

Identifying potentially modifiable risk factors for fracture in Native Americans with type 2 diabetes is of major importance for future diabetes health care initiatives. Important to that task is exploring the metabolic differences and the factors that contribute to these differences. It is also important to consider outcomes from the current study in context of other published reports. For example, TNF- $\alpha$  has been shown to influence osteoclastogenesis, a finding supported by the positive correlation of CTX to TNF- $\alpha$  in the non-diabetics of the current study. However, this does not hold true in this diabetic population. It is also plausible that an inflammatory biomarker such as TNF- $\alpha$  may not be different between these groups due to innate differences among Native Americans. Reference standards, (e.g. T-scores) are often based on Caucasian populations (15;16) making race-related deviations conceivable, a concept evidenced in fact by the higher average C reactive protein (CRP) concentrations seen in this population (367). This non-diagnostic test is used for the detection of inflammation and must be compared to appropriate ethnic normative reference data to ensure relevance. In addition to the inflammatory markers, low serum vitamin D in Native Americans has been reported (33), but the mean serum concentrations of the diabetic, non-diabetic and the group as a whole in this study were within the current IOM recommendation. Results of the self-reported calcium intake did not differ between groups and should be examined as well as physical activity, specifically weight-bearing for greater understanding of the role they play specific to bone health in Native Americans. Perhaps further exploration into race-related norms is in order to determine the usefulness of standard measures and their role in chronic disease.

Currently patients with type 2 diabetes represent a diagnostic and prognostic dilemma because the value of BMD measurement in predicting osteoporotic fractures may be limited by decreased bone quality. Given the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Native Americans, this population is at great risk. This necessitates exploration into underlying alterations in bone metabolism responsible for the biphasic response observed in this study and a greater understanding of the contributing risk factors. Improving understanding of the mechanisms involved will provide guidance toward better methods of assessment and treatment more appropriate than BMD may be discovered. It is necessary to recognize the need for not only different methods of risk assessment but different options of reducing risk as well. Therefore, evidence-based guidelines of fracture risk management, especially in Native Americans with diabetes are warranted.

## CHAPTER VI

#### CONCLUSION

#### Summary

Recent evidence suggests a relationship between type 2 diabetes and an increased risk of fracture. Native Americans are known to have a high prevalence of type 2 diabetes (i.e. ~2 times the national average), but the availability of evidence regarding fracture risk is limited in this population. This study was designed to examine the extent to which type 2 diabetes affects change in BMD and bone metabolism in Native American women. Participants included Native American women (n=123) 50 years of age and older, defined by their eligibility to receive services at an Indian Health Clinic. Of the total, 36% (n=44) reported a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes to which the all DM group was stratified by years post-diagnosis due to the potential for increased risk of fracture with longer diabetes duration. Baseline and final visits included DXA scans to determine BMD, relevant medical history and anthropometric measures. In addition, an optional serum sample was collected for measures of bone metabolism indicators, 25-hydroxyvitamin D3, and inflammatory mediators (e.g. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6).

DXA results revealed increased BMD in the hip regions of the DM group and more specifically the DM<10 years duration group. In fact the stratification of the diabetes group by duration

supports the possibility of a biphasic effect evidenced by increasing BMD in the hip region the first 10 years post-diagnosis, followed by significant decreases in the same region after the first decade following diabetes diagnosis. No differences in BMD were observed in the spine or forearm regions. The only difference observed in bone metabolism was decreased CTX in the all DM group. No differences were observed between groups in inflammatory mediators or vitamin D concentrations. These findings suggest a need to clarify the use of standard methods for assessing fracture risk using BMD in type 2 diabetes due to biphasic effects of diabetes with duration. Additionally, mechanisms affecting bone metabolism in non DM models may not function similarly in a diabetic environment. The differences occurring over time between the stratified diabetes group, is a possible indication that mechanisms are modified with disease duration. Finally, it remains to be determined if differences in this study, or lack of differences, is due to innate differences within the Native American population.

## Purpose

The purpose of this study is to examine the effects of type 2 diabetes and diabetes duration on bone health compared to non-diabetics in Native American women over 50 years of age.

*Hypothesis 1:* Change in BMD from baseline to final visit, one year later, will be greater in those women with type 2 diabetes and especially those women who have been diabetic for ten or more years compared to their non-diabetic counterparts.

No statistically significant difference in percent change in BMD was observed between the non DM and all DM groups. When the all DM group was stratified by duration of DM diagnosis, however, the DM<10 group demonstrated a significantly greater increase in BMD in the total hip and intertrochanter regions compared to both the non DM and the DM≥10 groups. The DM≥10

group demonstrated a decrease in BMD compared to the DM<10 at the same sites. Therefore we rejected the null hypothesis based on the stratification of the DM group by diabetes duration.

*Hypothesis 2:* Type 2 diabetics will demonstrate alterations in bone metabolism consistent with increased bone resorption and decreased bone formation rates from baseline to final visit, compared to non-diabetics. These alterations in bone metabolism will be more pronounced in longer duration type 2 diabetics (i.e.,  $\geq 10$  yrs).

No statistically significant difference in bone resorption or formation was observed between the non DM and all DM groups. When the all DM group was stratified by duration of DM diagnosis no differences were observed when compared to the non DM group. We failed to reject the null hypothesis.

*Hypothesis 3:* The mechanisms by which type 2 diabetics will experience accelerated bone loss will be mediated by an increased inflammatory state and compromised vitamin D status. The increased inflammatory state and compromise in vitamin D status will be exacerbated in longer duration diabetics.

No statistically significant difference in the inflammatory mediators TNF- $\alpha$  or IL-6 was observed between the non DM and all DM groups. No statistically significant difference in serum 25hydroxy vitamin D was observed between the non DM and all DM groups. When the all DM group was stratified by duration of DM diagnosis no differences were observed when compared to the non DM group in either inflammatory mediator or serum 25-hydroxy vitamin D. We failed to reject the null hypothesis.

## **Recommendations for Future Research**

As the prevalence of type 2 diabetes continues to rise, acknowledging the numerous complications and developing effective prevention and treatment strategies becomes increasingly

important. The recently discovered relationship between diabetes and bone introduces the increased risk of fracture as another complication that needs to be considered clinically. Important next steps will include exploration into factors affecting bone strength. This will require the use of animal models as well as techniques to determine alterations in bone biomechanical properties in humans. A better understanding of the influences of insulin and glucose control on biochemical markers of bone turnover is also needed. Impaired insulin clearance has been observed in type 2 diabetes and recently been associated with decreased bone resorption. Monitoring insulin levels with disease progression, in conjunction with bone biochemical markers, may provide new insight into metabolic changes in bone over time.

Another important point to consider is that the current literature focused on fracture risk and type2 diabetes only delineates type 2 diabetics by the number of years post-diagnosis. Other factors such as glucose control, the role of renal function and physical activity may also contribute to the ultimate effects of type 2 diabetes on bone health and fracture risk. Future studies should take these factors into consideration.

Lastly, it will also be essential in this pursuit to identify differences inherent to specific populations. Relatively little is known about Native Americans and osteoporosis risk. Therefore it is important to establish population based norms for different ethnic groups not only for BMD but also biochemical markers of bone metabolism.

# REFERENCES

- Gulliford A 2000 Sacred Objects and Sacred Places: Preserving Tribal Traditions. Boulder: University of Colorado.
- 2. Ogden S 2004 Caring for American Indian Objects: A Practical and Cultural Guide. Minnesota Historical Society Press.
- 3. Hendry J 2005 Reclaiming Culture: Indigenous People and Self-Representation. Palgrave Macmillan.
- 4. Walters KL, Simoni JM 2009 Decolonizing strategies for mentoring American Indians and Alaska Natives in HIV and mental health research. Am J Public Health 99 Suppl 1:S71-S76.
- 5. Dandona P, Aljada A, Bandyopadhyay A 2004 Inflammation: the link between insulin resistance, obesity and diabetes. Trends Immunol 25:4-7.
- 6. Harris MI, Klein R, Welborn TA, Knuiman MW 1992 Onset of NIDDM occurs at least 4-7 yr before clinical diagnosis. Diabetes Care 15:815-819.
- 7. Janghorbani M, Van Dam RM, Willett WC, Hu FB 2007 Systematic review of type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk of fracture. Am J Epidemiol 166:495-505.
- Schwartz AV, Sellmeyer DE, Ensrud KE, Cauley JA, Tabor HK, Schreiner PJ, Jamal SA, Black DM, Cummings SR 2001 Older women with diabetes have an increased risk of fracture: a prospective study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:32-38.
- 9. 2008 National diabetes fact sheet: general information and national estimates on diabetes in the United States, 2007. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Consensus development conference: prophylaxis and treatment of osteoporosis.1991 Am J Med.90:107-10.
- 11. Scanlon VC, Sanders T 1995 Essentials of Anatomy and Physiology, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. F.A. Davis Company, Philadelphia..

- Burge R, Dawson-Hughes B, Solomon DH, Wong JB, King A, Tosteson A 2007 Incidence and economic burden of osteoporosis-related fractures in the United States, 2005-2025. J Bone Miner Res 22:465-47512.
- 13. 2004 Bone Health and Osteoporosis: A Report of the Surgeon General. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- 14. Ammann P, Rizzoli R 2003 Bone strength and its determinants. Osteoporos Int 14 Suppl 3:S13-S18.
- 15. Kanis JA 1994 Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis: synopsis of a WHO report. WHO Study Group. Osteoporos Int 4:368-381.
- 16. Kanis JA, Melton LJ, III, Christiansen C, Johnston CC, Khaltaev N 1994 The diagnosis of osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 9:1137-1141.
- 1994 Guidelines for preclinical and clinical evaluation of agents used in the prevention or treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Food and Drug Administration, Division of Metabolism and Endocrine Drug Products..
- Nieves JW, Formica C, Ruffing J, Zion M, Garrett P, Lindsay R, Cosman F 2005 Males have larger skeletal size and bone mass than females, despite comparable body size. J Bone Miner Res 20:529-535.
- 19. Pacifici R 1999 Aging and cytokine production. Calcif Tissue Int 65:345-351.
- 20. Compston JE, Vedi S, Kaptoge S, Seeman E 2007 Bone remodeling rate and remodeling balance are not co-regulated in adulthood: implications for the use of activation frequency as an index of remodeling rate. J Bone Miner Res 22:1031-1036.
- Canalis E 1983 The hormonal and local regulation of bone formation. Endocr Rev 4:62-77.
- 22. Lacey DL, Timms E, Tan HL, Kelley MJ, Dunstan CR, Burgess T, Elliott R, Colombero A, Elliott G, Scully S, Hsu H, Sullivan J, Hawkins N, Davy E, Capparelli C, Eli A, Qian YX, Kaufman S, Sarosi I, Shalhoub V, Senaldi G, Guo J, Delaney J, Boyle WJ 1998 Osteoprotegerin ligand is a cytokine that regulates osteoclast differentiation and activation. Cell 93:165-176.
- 23. Rosen CJ 2003 Nutrition and Bone Health in the Elderly. Clin Rev In Bone snd Mineral Metabolism vol 1:249-260.
- 24. Amos AF, McCarty DJ, Zimmet P 1997 The rising global burden of diabetes and its complications: estimates and projections to the year 2010. Diabet Med 14 Suppl 5:S1-85.
- 25. Nicodemus KK, Folsom AR 2001 Type 1 and type 2 diabetes and incident hip fractures in postmenopausal women. Diabetes Care 24:1192-1197.

- 26. Bonds DE, Larson JC, Schwartz AV, Strotmeyer ES, Robbins J, Rodriguez BL, Johnson KC, Margolis KL 2006 Risk of fracture in women with type 2 diabetes: the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91:3404-3410.
- 27. Strotmeyer ES, Cauley JA, Schwartz AV, Nevitt MC, Resnick HE, Bauer DC, Tylavsky FA, de RN, Harris TB, Newman AB 2005 Nontraumatic fracture risk with diabetes mellitus and impaired fasting glucose in older white and black adults: the health, aging, and body composition study. Arch Intern Med 165:1612-1617.
- 28. de Liefde II, van der Klift M, de Laet CE, van Daele PL, Hofman A, Pols HA 2005 Bone mineral density and fracture risk in type-2 diabetes mellitus: the Rotterdam Study. Osteoporos Int 16:1713-1720.
- 29. van Daele PL, Stolk RP, Burger H, Algra D, Grobbee DE, Hofman A, Birkenhager JC, Pols HA 1995 Bone density in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Rotterdam Study. Ann Intern Med 122:409-414.
- 30. Vestergaard P 2007 Discrepancies in bone mineral density and fracture risk in patients with type 1 and type 2 diabetes--a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int 18:427-444.
- 31. Sosa M, Saavedra P, Jodar E, Lozano-Tonkin C, Quesada JM, Torrijos A, Perez-Cano R, Nogues X, az-Curiel M, Moro MJ, Gomez C, Mosquera J, Alegre J, Olmos J, Munoz-Torres M, Guanabens N, Del PJ, Hawkins F 2009 Bone mineral density and risk of fractures in aging, obese post-menopausal women with type 2 diabetes. The GIUMO Study. Aging Clin Exp Res 21:27-32.
- 32. Rock VJ, Malarcher A, Kahende JW, Asman K, Husten C, Caraballo R 2006 Cigarette smoking among adults-United States. Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, CDC, pp. 1157-1161.
- 33. Perry HM, III, Bernard M, Horowitz M, Miller DK, Fleming S, Baker MZ, Flaherty J, Purushothaman R, Hajjar R, Kaiser FE, Patrick P, Morley JE 1998 The effect of aging on bone mineral metabolism and bone mass in Native American women. J Am Geriatr Soc 46:1418-1422.
- Barrett-Connor E, Siris ES, Wehren LE, Miller PD, Abbott TA, Berger ML, Santora AC, Sherwood LM 2005 Osteoporosis and fracture risk in women of different ethnic groups. J Bone Miner Res 20:185-194.
- 35. Wampler NS, Chen Z, Jacobsen C, Henderson JA, Howard BV, Rossouw JE 2005 Bone mineral density of American Indian and Alaska Native women compared with non-Hispanic white women: results from the Women's Health Initiative Study. Menopause 12:536-544.
- 36. Parfitt AM 1994 Osteonal and hemi-osteonal remodeling: the spatial and temporal framework for signal traffic in adult human bone. J Cell Biochem 55:273-286.
- 37. Burr DB, Martin RB, Schaffler MB, Radin EL 1985 Bone remodeling in response to in vivo fatigue microdamage. J Biomech 18:189-200.
- 38. Burr DB, Martin RB 1993 Calculating the probability that microcracks initiate resorption spaces. J Biomech 26:613-616.
- 39. Mori S, Burr DB 1993 Increased intracortical remodeling following fatigue damage. Bone 14:103-109.
- 40. Osteoporosis prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. 2001 JAMA 285:785-795.
- 41. Raisz LG 2005 Pathogenesis of osteoporosis: concepts, conflicts, and prospects. J Clin Invest 115:3318-3325.
- 42. Albright F, Smith P, Richardson A 1941 Postmenopausal Osteoporosis. JAMA 116:2465-2474.
- 43. 1994 Assessment of Fracture Risk and its Application to Screening for Postmenopausal Osteoporosis., 843 ed. World Health Organization.
- 44. Black RE, Williams SM, Jones IE, Goulding A 2002 Children who avoid drinking cow milk have low dietary calcium intakes and poor bone health. Am J Clin Nutr 76:675-680.
- 45. Goulding A, Rockell JE, Black RE, Grant AM, Jones IE, Williams SM 2004 Children who avoid drinking cow's milk are at increased risk for prepubertal bone fractures. J Am Diet Assoc 104:250-253.
- 46. Rockell JE, Williams SM, Taylor RW, Grant AM, Jones IE, Goulding A2005 Two-year changes in bone and body composition in young children with a history of prolonged milk avoidance. Osteoporos Int 16:1016-1023.
- 47. Hidvegi E, Arato A, Cserhati E, Horvath C, Szabo A, Szabo A 2003 Slight decrease in bone mineralization in cow milk-sensitive children. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 36:44-49.
- Chapuy MC, Arlot ME, Duboeuf F, Brun J, Crouzet B, Arnaud S, Delmas PD, Meunier PJ 1992 Vitamin D3 and calcium to prevent hip fractures in the elderly women. N Engl J Med 327:1637-1642.
- Dawson-Hughes B, Harris SS, Krall EA, Dallal GE 1997 Effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on bone density in men and women 65 years of age or older. N Engl J Med 337:670-676.
- 50. Larsen ER, Mosekilde L, Foldspang A 2004 Vitamin D and calcium supplementation prevents osteoporotic fractures in elderly community dwelling residents: a pragmatic population-based 3-year intervention study. J Bone Miner Res 19:370-378.
- 51. Jackson RD, LaCroix AZ, Gass M, Wallace RB, Robbins J, Lewis CE, Bassford T, Beresford SA, Black HR, Blanchette P, Bonds DE, Brunner RL, Brzyski RG, Caan B, Cauley JA, Chlebowski RT, Cummings SR, Granek I, Hays J, Heiss G, Hendrix SL, Howard BV, Hsia J, Hubbell FA, Johnson KC, Judd H, Kotchen JM, Kuller LH, Langer RD, Lasser NL, Limacher MC, Ludlam S, Manson JE, Margolis KL, McGowan J,

Ockene JK, O'Sullivan MJ, Phillips L, Prentice RL, Sarto GE, Stefanick ML, Van HL, Wactawski-Wende J, Whitlock E, Anderson GL, Assaf AR, Barad D 2006 Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and the risk of fractures. N Engl J Med 354:669-683.

- 52. Riggs BL, O'Fallon WM, Muhs J, O'Connor MK, Kumar R, Melton LJ, III 1998 Longterm effects of calcium supplementation on serum parathyroid hormone level, bone turnover, and bone loss in elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 13:168-174.
- 53. Storm D, Eslin R, Porter ES, Musgrave K, Vereault D, Patton C, Kessenich C, Mohan S, Chen T, Holick MF, Rosen CJ 1998 Calcium supplementation prevents seasonal bone loss and changes in biochemical markers of bone turnover in elderly New England women: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 83:3817-3825.
- 54. Holick MF 2003 Vitamin D: A millenium perspective. J Cell Biochem 88:296-307.
- 55. Papadimitropoulos E, Wells G, Shea B, Gillespie W, Weaver B, Zytaruk N, Cranney A, Adachi J, Tugwell P, Josse R, Greenwood C, Guyatt G 2002 Meta-analyses of therapies for postmenopausal osteoporosis. VIII: Meta-analysis of the efficacy of vitamin D treatment in preventing osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Endocr Rev 23:560-569.
- Fehling PC, Alekel L, Clasey J, Rector A, Stillman RJ 1995 A comparison of bone mineral densities among female athletes in impact loading and active loading sports. Bone 17:205-210.
- 57. Menkes A, Mazel S, Redmond RA, Koffler K, Libanati CR, Gundberg CM, Zizic TM, Hagberg JM, Pratley RE, Hurley BF 1993 Strength training increases regional bone mineral density and bone remodeling in middle-aged and older men. J Appl Physiol 74:2478-2484.
- 58. Hetland ML, Haarbo J, Christiansen C 1993 Low bone mass and high bone turnover in male long distance runners. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 77:770-775.
- 59. Morel J, Combe B, Francisco J, Bernard J 2001 Bone mineral density of 704 amateur sportsmen involved in different physical activities. Osteoporos Int 12:152-157.
- 60. Eliakim A, Raisz LG, Brasel JA, Cooper DM 1997 Evidence for increased bone formation following a brief endurance-type training intervention in adolescent males. J Bone Miner Res 12:1708-1713.
- 61. Morey ER, Baylink DJ 1978 Inhibition of bone formation during space flight. Science 201:1138-1141.
- 62. Wronski TJ, Morey ER 1983 Effect of spaceflight on periosteal bone formation in rats. Am J Physiol 244:R305-R309.
- 63. Vico L, Novikov VE, Very JM, Alexandre C 1991 Bone histomorphometric comparison of rat tibial metaphysis after 7-day tail suspension vs. 7-day spaceflight. Aviat Space Environ Med 62:26-31.

- 64. Vico L, Alexandre C 1992 Microgravity and bone adaptation at the tissue level. J Bone Miner Res 7 Suppl 2:S445-S447.
- 65. Vico L, Chappard D, Palle S, Bakulin AV, Novikov VE, Alexandre C 1988 Trabecular bone remodeling after seven days of weightlessness exposure (BIOCOSMOS 1667). Am J Physiol 255:R243-R247.
- 66. Oganov VS, Rakhmanov AS, Novikov VE, Zatsepin ST, Rodionova SS, Cann C 1991 The state of human bone tissue during space flight. Acta Astronaut 23:129-133.
- 67. Zerath E, Holy X, Malouvier A, Caissard JC, Nogues C 1991 Rat and monkey bone study in the Biocosmos 2044 space experiment. Physiologist 34:S194-S195.
- 68. Jee WS, Wronski TJ, Morey ER, Kimmel DB 1983 Effects of spaceflight on trabecular bone in rats. Am J Physiol 244:R310-R314.
- 69. Yagodovsky VS, Triftanidi LA, Gorokhova GP 1976 Space flight effects on skeletal bones of rats (light and electron microscopic examination). Aviat Space Environ Med 47:734-738.
- 70. Turner RT, Evans GL, Wakley GK 1995 Spaceflight results in depressed cancellous bone formation in rat humeri. Aviat Space Environ Med 66:770-774.
- 71. Garetto LP, Gonsalves MR, Morey ER, Durnova G, Roberts WE 1990 Preosteoblast production 55 hours after a 12.5-day spaceflight on Cosmos 1887. FASEB J 4:24-28.
- 72. Smith SM, Wastney ME, O'Brien KO, Morukov BV, Larina IM, Abrams SA, vis-Street JE, Oganov V, Shackelford LC 2005 Bone markers, calcium metabolism, and calcium kinetics during extended-duration space flight on the mir space station. J Bone Miner Res 20:208-218.
- 73. Ohshima H 2010 Secondary osteoporosis UPDATE. Bone loss due to bed rest and human space flight study. Clinical Calcium 20(5):709-16
- 74. Howe TE, Shea B, Dawson LJ, Downie F, Murray A, Ross C, Harbour RT, Caldwell LM, Creed G 2011 Exercise for preventing and treating osteoporosis in postmenopausal women. Cochrane Database Syst Rev:CD000333.
- 75. Tuppurainen M, Kroger H, Saarikoski S, Honkanen R, Alhava E 1995 The effect of gynecological risk factors on lumbar and femoral bone mineral density in peri- and postmenopausal women. Maturitas 21:137-145.
- 76. Kroger H, Tuppurainen M, Honkanen R, Alhava E, Saarikoski S 1994 Bone mineral density and risk factors for osteoporosis--a population-based study of 1600 perimenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int 55:1-7.
- 77. Takada H, Washino K, Iwata H 1997 Risk factors for low bone mineral density among females: the effect of lean body mass. Prev Med 26:633-638.

- Ryan PJ, Blake GM, Fogelman I 1992 Postmenopausal screening for osteopenia. Br J Rheumatol 31:823-828.
- 79. Ho SC, Chen YM, Woo JL 2005 Educational level and osteoporosis risk in postmenopausal Chinese women. Am J Epidemiol 161:680-690.
- 80. Mizuno K, Suzuki A, Ino Y, Asada Y, Kikkawa F, Tomoda Y 1995 Postmenopausal bone loss in Japanese women. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 50:33-39.
- 81. Heaney RP, Recker RR, Saville PD 1978 Menopausal changes in bone remodeling. J Lab Clin Med 92:964-970.
- Macdonald HM, New SA, Campbell MK, Reid DM 2005 Influence of weight and weight change on bone loss in perimenopausal and early postmenopausal Scottish women. Osteoporos Int 16:163-171.
- 83. Genant HK, Gluer CC, Lotz JC 1994 Gender differences in bone density, skeletal geometry, and fracture biomechanics. Radiology 190:636-640.
- 84. Seeman E 2003 The structural and biomechanical basis of the gain and loss of bone strength in women and men. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 32:25-38.
- 85. Seeman E 2001 Clinical review 137: Sexual dimorphism in skeletal size, density, and strength. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:4576-4584.
- 86. Parfitt AM, Travers R, Rauch F, Glorieux FH 2000 Structural and cellular changes during bone growth in healthy children. Bone 27:487-494.
- Seeman E 2003 Periosteal bone formation--a neglected determinant of bone strength. N Engl J Med 349:320-323.
- 88. Crilly RG 1972 Longitudinal overgrowth of chicken radius. J Anat 112:11-18.
- 89. Eisman JA, Kelly PJ, Morrison NA, Pocock NA, Yeoman R, Birmingham J, Sambrook PN 1993 Peak bone mass and osteoporosis prevention. Osteoporos Int 3 Suppl 1:56-60.
- 90. Melton LJ, III, Atkinson EJ, O'Fallon WM, Wahner HW, Riggs BL 1993 Long-term fracture prediction by bone mineral assessed at different skeletal sites. J Bone Miner Res 8:1227-1233.
- 91. Cummings SR, Nevitt MC, Browner WS, Stone K, Fox KM, Ensrud KE, Cauley J, Black D, Vogt TM 1995 Risk factors for hip fracture in white women. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. N Engl J Med 332:767-773.
- 92. Seeman E 2003 Invited Review: Pathogenesis of osteoporosis. J Appl Physiol 95:2142-2151.
- 93. Cundy T, Cornish J, Evans MC, Gamble G, Stapleton J, Reid IR 1995 Sources of interracial variation in bone mineral density. J Bone Miner Res 10:368-373.

- 94. Ross PD, He Y, Yates AJ, Coupland C, Ravn P, McClung M, Thompson D, Wasnich RD 1996 Body size accounts for most differences in bone density between Asian and Caucasian women. The EPIC (Early Postmenopausal Interventional Cohort) Study Group. Calcif Tissue Int 59:339-343.
- 95. Bhudhikanok GS, Wang MC, Eckert K, Matkin C, Marcus R, Bachrach LK 1996 Differences in bone mineral in young Asian and Caucasian Americans may reflect differences in bone size. J Bone Miner Res 11:1545-1556.
- 96. Evers SE, Orchard JW, Haddad RG 1985 Bone density in postmenopausal North American Indian and Caucasian females. Hum Biol 57:719-726.
- 97. Han ZH, Palnitkar S, Rao DS, Nelson D, Parfitt AM 1997 Effects of ethnicity and age or menopause on the remodeling and turnover of iliac bone: implications for mechanisms of bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 12:498-508.
- 98. Ito M, Lang TF, Jergas M, Ohki M, Takada M, Nakamura T, Hayashi K, Genant HK 1997 Spinal trabecular bone loss and fracture in American and Japanese women. Calcif Tissue Int 61:123-128.
- 99. Luckey MM, Meier DE, Mandeli JP, DaCosta MC, Hubbard ML, Goldsmith SJ 1989 Radial and vertebral bone density in white and black women: evidence for racial differences in premenopausal bone homeostasis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 69:762-770.
- 100. Cummings SR, Cauley JA, Palermo L, Ross PD, Wasnich RD, Black D, Faulkner KG 1994 Racial differences in hip axis lengths might explain racial differences in rates of hip fracture. Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Osteoporos Int 4:226-229.
- 101. Mikhail MB, Vaswani AN, Aloia JF 1996 Racial differences in femoral dimensions and their relation to hip fracture. Osteoporos Int 6:22-24.
- 102. Dibba B, Prentice A, Laskey MA, Stirling DM, Cole TJ 1999 An investigation of ethnic differences in bone mineral, hip axis length, calcium metabolism and bone turnover between West African and Caucasian adults living in the United Kingdom. Ann Hum Biol 26:229-242.
- 103. Alekel DL, Mortillaro E, Hussain EA, West B, Ahmed N, Peterson CT, Werner RK, Arjmandi BH, Kukreja SC 1999 Lifestyle and biologic contributors to proximal femur bone mineral density and hip axis length in two distinct ethnic groups of premenopausal women. Osteoporos Int 9:327-338.
- Bell NH, Yergey AL, Vieira NE, Oexmann MJ, Shary JR1993 Demonstration of a difference in urinary calcium, not calcium absorption, in black and white adolescents. J Bone Miner Res 8:1111-1115.
- 105. Bachrach LK, Hastie T, Wang MC, Narasimhan B, Marcus R 1999 Bone mineral acquisition in healthy Asian, Hispanic, black, and Caucasian youth: a longitudinal study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:4702-4712.

- 106. Finkelstein JS, Lee ML, Sowers M, Ettinger B, Neer RM, Kelsey JL, Cauley JA, Huang MH, Greendale GA 2002 Ethnic variation in bone density in premenopausal and early perimenopausal women: effects of anthropometric and lifestyle factors. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 87:3057-3067.
- 107. Jahnsen J, Falch JA, Mowinckel P, Aadland E 2002 Vitamin D status, parathyroid hormone and bone mineral density in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 37:192-199.
- 108. Hessov I, Mosekilde L, Melsen F, Fasth S, Hulten L, Lund B, Lund B, Sorensen OH 1984 Osteopenia with normal vitamin D metabolites after small-bowel resection for Crohn's disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 19:691-696.
- 109. Schoon EJ, van Nunen AB, Wouters RS, Stockbrugger RW, Russel MG 2000 Osteopenia and osteoporosis in Crohn's disease: prevalence in a Dutch population-based cohort. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl:43-47.
- Compston JE, Judd D, Crawley EO, Evans WD, Evans C, Church HA, Reid EM, Rhodes J 1987 Osteoporosis in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 28:410-415.
- 111. Silvennoinen JA, Karttunen TJ, Niemela SE, Manelius JJ, Lehtola JK 1995 A controlled study of bone mineral density in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 37:71-76.
- 112. Di Stefano M, Veneto G, Malservisi S, Corazza GR 2001 Small intestine bacterial overgrowth and metabolic bone disease. Dig Dis Sci 46:1077-1082.
- 113. Bano G, Rodin DA, Pazianas M, Nussey SS 1999 Reduced bone mineral density after surgical treatment for obesity 1. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 23:361-365.
- 114. Compston JE, Ayers AB, Horton LW, Tighe JR, Creamer B 1978 Osteomalacia after small-intestinal resection. Lancet 1:9-12.
- 115. Molteni N, Bardella MT, Vezzoli G, Pozzoli E, Bianchi P 1995 Intestinal calcium absorption as shown by stable strontium test in celiac disease before and after gluten-free diet1. Am J Gastroenterol 90:2025-2028.
- 116. Walters JR 2003 The role of the intestine in bone homeostasis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 15:845-849.
- 117. Leichtmann GA, Bengoa JM, Bolt MJ, Sitrin MD 1991 Intestinal absorption of cholecalciferol and 25-hydroxycholecalciferol in patients with both Crohn's disease and intestinal resection. Am J Clin Nutr 54:548-552.
- 118. Ezzat Y, Hamdy K 2010 The frequency of low bone mineral density and its associated risk factors in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. Int J Rheum Dis 13:259-265.

- Shen F, Ruddy MJ, Plamondon P, Gaffen SL 2005 Cytokines link osteoblasts and inflammation: microarray analysis of interleukin-17- and TNF-alpha-induced genes in bone cells. J Leukoc Biol 77:388-399.
- 120. Wei S, Kitaura H, Zhou P, Ross FP, Teitelbaum SL 2005 IL-1 mediates TNF-induced osteoclastogenesis. J Clin Invest 115:282-290.
- 121. Nijweide PJ, Burger EH, Feyen JH 1986 Cells of bone: proliferation, differentiation, and hormonal regulation. Physiol Rev 66:855-886.
- 122. Christiansen C, Christensen MS, Larsen NE, Transbol IB 1982 Pathophysiological mechanisms of estrogen effect on bone metabolism. Dose-response relationships in early postmenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 55:1124-1130.
- 123. Nakamura T, Imai Y, Matsumoto T, Sato S, Takeuchi K, Igarashi K, Harada Y, Azuma Y, Krust A, Yamamoto Y, Nishina H, Takeda S, Takayanagi H, Metzger D, Kanno J, Takaoka K, Martin TJ, Chambon P, Kato S 2007 Estrogen prevents bone loss via estrogen receptor alpha and induction of Fas ligand in osteoclasts. Cell 130:811-823.
- 124. Abe T, Sato K, Miyakoshi N, Kudo T, Tamura Y, Tsuchida T, Kasukawa Y 1999 Trabecular remodeling processes in the ovariectomized rat: modified node-strut analysis. Bone 24:591-596.
- Pacifici R 1996 Estrogen, cytokines, and pathogenesis of postmenopausal osteoporosis. J Bone Miner Res 11:1043-1051.
- 126. Jilka RL, Hangoc G, Girasole G, Passeri G, Williams DC, Abrams JS, Boyce B, Broxmeyer H, Manolagas SC 1992 Increased osteoclast development after estrogen loss: mediation by interleukin-6. Science 257:88-91.
- 127. Weitzmann MN, Roggia C, Toraldo G, Weitzmann L, Pacifici R 2002 Increased production of IL-7 uncouples bone formation from bone resorption during estrogen deficiency. J Clin Invest 110:1643-1650.
- 128. Pun KK, Lau P, Ho PW 1989 The characterization, regulation, and function of insulin receptors on osteoblast-like clonal osteosarcoma cell line. J Bone Miner Res 4:853-862.
- 129. Rosen DM, Luben RA 1983 Multiple hormonal mechanisms for the control of collagen synthesis in an osteoblast-like cell line, MMB-1. Endocrinology 112:992-999.
- 130. Kream BE, Smith MD, Canalis E, Raisz LG 1985 Characterization of the effect of insulin on collagen synthesis in fetal rat bone. Endocrinology 116:296-302.
- Kemink SA, Hermus AR, Swinkels LM, Lutterman JA, Smals AG 2000 Osteopenia in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus; prevalence and aspects of pathophysiology. J Endocrinol Invest 23:295-303.

- 132. Thrailkill KM 2000 Insulin-like growth factor-I in diabetes mellitus: its physiology, metabolic effects, and potential clinical utility. Diabetes Technol Ther 2:69-80.
- 133. Janghorbani M, Feskanich D, Willett WC, Hu F 2006 Prospective study of diabetes and risk of hip fracture: the Nurses' Health Study. Diabetes Care 29:1573-1578.
- 134. Loder RT 1988 The influence of diabetes mellitus on the healing of closed fractures. Clin Orthop Relat Res: 210-216.
- 135. Fulzele K, Riddle RC, DiGirolamo DJ, Cao X, Wan C, Chen D, Faugere MC, Aja S, Hussain MA, Bruning JC, Clemens TL 2010 Insulin receptor signaling in osteoblasts regulates postnatal bone acquisition and body composition. Cell 142:309-319.
- 136. Ducy P, Zhang R, Geoffroy V, Ridall AL, Karsenty G 1997 Osf2/Cbfa1: a transcriptional activator of osteoblast differentiation. Cell 89:747-754.
- 137. Banerjee C, McCabe LR, Choi JY, Hiebert SW, Stein JL, Stein GS, Lian JB 1997 Runt homology domain proteins in osteoblast differentiation: AML3/CBFA1 is a major component of a bone-specific complex. J Cell Biochem 66:1-8.
- 138. Sato M, Morii E, Komori T, Kawahata H, Sugimoto M, Terai K, Shimizu H, Yasui T, Ogihara H, Yasui N, Ochi T, Kitamura Y, Ito Y, Nomura S 1998 Transcriptional regulation of osteopontin gene in vivo by PEBP2alphaA/CBFA1 and ETS1 in the skeletal tissues. Oncogene 17:1517-1525.
- 139. Benson MD, Aubin JE, Xiao G, Thomas PE, Franceschi RT 1999 Cloning of a 2.5 kb murine bone sialoprotein promoter fragment and functional analysis of putative Osf2 binding sites. J Bone Miner Res 14:396-405.
- Clowes JA, Allen HC, Prentis DM, Eastell R, Blumsohn A 2003 Octreotide abolishes the acute decrease in bone turnover in response to oral glucose. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:4867-4873.
- 141. 2004 National Center for Health Statistics Survey. National Center for Health Statistics.
- 142. Kopelman PG 2000 Obesity as a medical problem. Nature 404:635-643.
- 143. Mokdad AH, Ford ES, Bowman BA, Dietz WH, Vinicor F, Bales VS, Marks JS 2003 Prevalence of obesity, diabetes, and obesity-related health risk factors, 2001. JAMA 289:76-79.
- 144. Smith RE, Horwitz BA 1969 Brown fat and thermogenesis. Physiol Rev 49:330-425.
- 145. Nedergaard J, Bengtsson T, Cannon B 2007 Unexpected evidence for active brown adipose tissue in adult humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 293:E444-E452.
- Kershaw EE, Flier JS 2004 Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:2548-2556.

- 147. Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Baker MB, Hecht R, Winters D, Boone T, Collins F 1995 Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. Science 269:540-543.
- 148. Halaas JL, Gajiwala KS, Maffei M, Cohen SL, Chait BT, Rabinowitz D, Lallone RL, Burley SK, Friedman JM 1995 Weight-reducing effects of the plasma protein encoded by the obese gene. Science 269:543-546.
- 149. Campfield LA, Smith FJ, Guisez Y, Devos R, Burn P 1995 Recombinant mouse OB protein: evidence for a peripheral signal linking adiposity and central neural networks. Science 269:546-549.
- 150. Chandran M, Phillips SA, Ciaraldi T, Henry RR 2003 Adiponectin: more than just another fat cell hormone? Diabetes Care 26:2442-2450.
- 151. Tsuchida A, Yamauchi T, Ito Y, Hada Y, Maki T, Takekawa S, Kamon J, Kobayashi M, Suzuki R, Hara K, Kubota N, Terauchi Y, Froguel P, Nakae J, Kasuga M, Accili D, Tobe K, Ueki K, Nagai R, Kadowaki T 2004 Insulin/Foxo1 pathway regulates expression levels of adiponectin receptors and adiponectin sensitivity. J Biol Chem 279:30817-30822.
- 152. Bullo M, Garcia-Lorda P, Megias I, Salas-Salvado J 2003 Systemic inflammation, adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor, and leptin expression. Obes Res 11:525-531.
- 153. Das UN 2001 Is obesity an inflammatory condition? Nutrition 17:953-966.
- 154. Yudkin JS, Stehouwer CD, Emeis JJ, Coppack SW 1999 C-reactive protein in healthy subjects: associations with obesity, insulin resistance, and endothelial dysfunction: a potential role for cytokines originating from adipose tissue? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 19:972-978.
- 155. Festa A, D'Agostino R, Jr., Williams K, Karter AJ, Mayer-Davis EJ, Tracy RP, Haffner SM 2001 The relation of body fat mass and distribution to markers of chronic inflammation. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 25:1407-1415.
- 156. Stephens JM, Lee J, Pilch PF 1997 Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes is accompanied by a loss of insulin receptor substrate-1 and GLUT4 expression without a loss of insulin receptor-mediated signal transduction. J Biol Chem 272:971-976.
- 157. Ruan H, Miles PD, Ladd CM, Ross K, Golub TR, Olefsky JM, Lodish HF 2002 Profiling gene transcription in vivo reveals adipose tissue as an immediate target of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: implications for insulin resistance. Diabetes 51:3176-3188.
- 158. Cai D, Yuan M, Frantz DF, Melendez PA, Hansen L, Lee J, Shoelson SE 2005 Local and systemic insulin resistance resulting from hepatic activation of IKK-beta and NF-kappaB. Nat Med 11:183-190.

- 159. Kuan CY, Yang DD, Samanta Roy DR, Davis RJ, Rakic P, Flavell RA 1999 The Jnk1 and Jnk2 protein kinases are required for regional specific apoptosis during early brain development. Neuron 22:667-676.
- 160. Yuasa T, Ohno S, Kehrl JH, Kyriakis JM 1998 Tumor necrosis factor signaling to stressactivated protein kinase (SAPK)/Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38. Germinal center kinase couples TRAF2 to mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK kinase kinase 1 and SAPK while receptor interacting protein associates with a mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase upstream of MKK6 and p38. J Biol Chem 273:22681-22692.
- Bakal C, Linding R, Llense F, Heffern E, Martin-Blanco E, Pawson T, Perrimon N 2008 Phosphorylation networks regulating JNK activity in diverse genetic backgrounds. Science 322:453-456.
- 162. Hirosumi J, Tuncman G, Chang L, Gorgun CZ, Uysal KT, Maeda K, Karin M, Hotamisligil GS 2002 A central role for JNK in obesity and insulin resistance. Nature 420:333-336.
- Nachiappan V, Curtiss D, Corkey BE, Kilpatrick L 1994 Cytokines inhibit fatty acid oxidation in isolated rat hepatocytes: synergy among TNF, IL-6, and IL-1. Shock 1:123-129.
- 164. Steinberg GR, Michell BJ, van Denderen BJ, Watt MJ, Carey AL, Fam BC, Andrikopoulos S, Proietto J, Gorgun CZ, Carling D, Hotamisligil GS, Febbraio MA, Kay TW, Kemp BE 2006 Tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced skeletal muscle insulin resistance involves suppression of AMP-kinase signaling. Cell Metab 4:465-474.
- 165. Yu C, Chen Y, Cline GW, Zhang D, Zong H, Wang Y, Bergeron R, Kim JK, Cushman SW, Cooney GJ, Atcheson B, White MF, Kraegen EW, Shulman GI 2002 Mechanism by which fatty acids inhibit insulin activation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in muscle. J Biol Chem 277:50230-50236.
- 166. Senn JJ, Klover PJ, Nowak IA, Zimmers TA, Koniaris LG, Furlanetto RW, Mooney RA 2003 Suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 (SOCS-3), a potential mediator of interleukin-6dependent insulin resistance in hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 278:13740-13746.
- 167. Senn JJ, Klover PJ, Nowak IA, Mooney RA 2002 Interleukin-6 induces cellular insulin resistance in hepatocytes. Diabetes 51:3391-3399.
- 168. Rotter V, Nagaev I, Smith U 2003 Interleukin-6 (IL-6) induces insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and is, like IL-8 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha, overexpressed in human fat cells from insulin-resistant subjects. J Biol Chem 278:45777-45784.
- 169. Vozarova B, Weyer C, Hanson K, Tataranni PA, Bogardus C, Pratley RE 2001 Circulating interleukin-6 in relation to adiposity, insulin action, and insulin secretion. Obes Res 9:414-417.

- 170. Kern PA, Ranganathan S, Li C, Wood L, Ranganathan G 2001 Adipose tissue tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-6 expression in human obesity and insulin resistance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 280:E745-E751.
- 171. Pradhan AD, Manson JE, Rifai N, Buring JE, Ridker PM 2001 C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 286:327-334.
- 172. Czech MP 1976 Cellular basis of insulin insensitivity in large rat adipocytes. J Clin Invest 57:1523-1532.
- 173. Paolisso G, Tataranni PA, Foley JE, Bogardus C, Howard BV, Ravussin E 1995 A high concentration of fasting plasma non-esterified fatty acids is a risk factor for the development of NIDDM. Diabetologia 38:1213-1217.
- 174. Kim JY, van de WE, Laplante M, Azzara A, Trujillo ME, Hofmann SM, Schraw T, Durand JL, Li H, Li G, Jelicks LA, Mehler MF, Hui DY, Deshaies Y, Shulman GI, Schwartz GJ, Scherer PE 2007 Obesity-associated improvements in metabolic profile through expansion of adipose tissue. J Clin Invest 117:2621-2637.
- 175. Scherer PE 2006 Adipose tissue: from lipid storage compartment to endocrine organ. Diabetes 55:1537-1545.
- 176. Danforth E Jr 2000 Failure of adipocyte differentiation causes type II diabetes mellitus? Nat Genet 26:13.
- 177. Iozzo P 2009 Viewpoints on the way to the consensus session: where does insulin resistance start? The adipose tissue. Diabetes Care 32 Suppl 2:S168-S173.
- 178. Stefan N, Kantartzis K, Machann J, Schick F, Thamer C, Rittig K, Balletshofer B, Machicao F, Fritsche A, Haring HU 2008 Identification and characterization of metabolically benign obesity in humans. Arch Intern Med 168:1609-1616.
- 179. McLaughlin T, Abbasi F, Cheal K, Chu J, Lamendola C, Reaven G 2003 Use of metabolic markers to identify overweight individuals who are insulin resistant. Ann Intern Med 139:802-809.
- Karelis AD, St-Pierre DH, Conus F, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Poehlman ET 2004 Metabolic and body composition factors in subgroups of obesity: what do we know? J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:2569-2575.
- Pittas AG, Joseph NA, Greenberg AS 2004 Adipocytokines and insulin resistance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89:447-452.
- 182. Boyko EJ, Fujimoto WY, Leonetti DL, Newell-Morris L 2000 Visceral adiposity and risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective study among Japanese Americans. Diabetes Care 23:465-471.

- 183. Pouliot MC, Despres JP, Nadeau A, Moorjani S, Prud'Homme D, Lupien PJ, Tremblay A, Bouchard C 1992 Visceral obesity in men. Associations with glucose tolerance, plasma insulin, and lipoprotein levels. Diabetes 41:826-834.
- 184. Lemieux S, Prud'homme D, Nadeau A, Tremblay A, Bouchard C, Despres JP 1996 Seven-year changes in body fat and visceral adipose tissue in women. Association with indexes of plasma glucose-insulin homeostasis. Diabetes Care 19:983-991.
- 185. Banerji MA, Lebowitz J, Chaiken RL, Gordon D, Kral JG, Lebovitz HE 1997 Relationship of visceral adipose tissue and glucose disposal is independent of sex in black NIDDM subjects. Am J Physiol 273:E425-E432.
- Banerji MA, Faridi N, Atluri R, Chaiken RL, Lebovitz HE 1999 Body composition, visceral fat, leptin, and insulin resistance in Asian Indian men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 84:137-144.
- 187. Stumvoll M, Jacob S, Wahl HG, Hauer B, Loblein K, Grauer P, Becker R, Nielsen M, Renn W, Haring H 2000 Suppression of systemic, intramuscular, and subcutaneous adipose tissue lipolysis by insulin in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:3740-3745.
- 188. Arner P 2001 Free fatty acids do they play a central role in type 2 diabetes? Diabetes Obes Metab 3 Suppl 1:11-19.
- 189. Galvard H, Elmstahl S, Elmstahl B, Samuelsson SM, Robertsson E 1996 Differences in body composition between female geriatric hip fracture patients and healthy controls: body fat is more important as explanatory factor for the fracture than body weight and lean body mass. Aging (Milano ) 8:282-286.
- 190. Joakimsen RM, Fonnebo V, Magnus JH, Tollan A, Sogaard AJ 1998 The Tromso Study: body height, body mass index and fractures. Osteoporos Int 8:436-442.
- 191. Turner LW, Faile PA, Tomlinson R, Jr. 1999 Osteoporosis diagnosis and fracture. Orthop Nurs 18:21-27.
- 192. van der Voort DJ, Geusens PP, Dinant GJ 2001 Risk factors for osteoporosis related to their outcome: fractures. Osteoporos Int 12:630-638.
- 193. Felson DT, Zhang Y, Hannan MT, Anderson JJ 1993 Effects of weight and body mass index on bone mineral density in men and women: the Framingham study. J Bone Miner Res 8:567-573.
- 194. Marcus R, Greendale G, Blunt BA, Bush TL, Sherman S, Sherwin R, Wahner H, Wells B 1994 Correlates of bone mineral density in the postmenopausal estrogen/progestin interventions trial. J Bone Miner Res 9:1467-1476.
- 195. Mazess RB, Barden HS, Ettinger M, Johnston C, wson-Hughes B, Baran D, Powell M, Notelovitz M 1987 Spine and femur density using dual-photon absorptiometry in US white women. Bone Miner 2:211-219.

- 196. Ravn P, Cizza G, Bjarnason NH, Thompson D, Daley M, Wasnich RD, McClung M, Hosking D, Yates AJ, Christiansen C 1999 Low body mass index is an important risk factor for low bone mass and increased bone loss in early postmenopausal women. Early Postmenopausal Intervention Cohort (EPIC) study group. J Bone Miner Res 14:1622-1627.
- 197. Reid IR, Plank LD, Evans MC 1992 Fat mass is an important determinant of whole body bone density in premenopausal women but not in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 75:779-782.
- 198. Reid IR, Ames R, Evans MC, Sharpe S, Gamble G, France JT, Lim TM, Cundy TF 1992 Determinants of total body and regional bone mineral density in normal postmenopausal women--a key role for fat mass. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 75:45-51.
- Reid IR 2002 Relationships among body mass, its components, and bone. Bone 31:547-555.
- 200. Beresford JN 1989 Osteogenic stem cells and the stromal system of bone and marrow. Clin Orthop Relat Res:270-280.
- 201. Bennett JH, Joyner CJ, Triffitt JT, Owen ME 1991 Adipocytic cells cultured from marrow have osteogenic potential. J Cell Sci 99 (Pt 1):131-139.
- 202. Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, Mosca JD, Moorman MA, Simonetti DW, Craig S, Marshak DR 1999 Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284:143-147.
- 203. Kawaguchi H 2004 [Ageing and bone]. Clin Calcium 14:275-283.
- 204. Komori T 2006 Regulation of osteoblast differentiation by transcription factors. J Cell Biochem 99:1233-1239.
- 205. Komori T 2005 Regulation of skeletal development by the Runx family of transcription factors. J Cell Biochem 95:445-453.
- 206. Akune T, Ohba S, Kamekura S, Yamaguchi M, Chung UI, Kubota N, Terauchi Y, Harada Y, Azuma Y, Nakamura K, Kadowaki T, Kawaguchi H 2004 PPARgamma insufficiency enhances osteogenesis through osteoblast formation from bone marrow progenitors. J Clin Invest 113:846-855.
- 207. Cock TA, Back J, Elefteriou F, Karsenty G, Kastner P, Chan S, Auwerx J 2004 Enhanced bone formation in lipodystrophic PPARgamma(hyp/hyp) mice relocates haematopoiesis to the spleen. EMBO Rep 5:1007-1012.
- 208. Rzonca SO, Suva LJ, Gaddy D, Montague DC, Lecka-Czernik B 2004 Bone is a target for the antidiabetic compound rosiglitazone. Endocrinology 145:401-406.

- Soroceanu MA, Miao D, Bai XY, Su H, Goltzman D, Karaplis AC 2004 Rosiglitazone impacts negatively on bone by promoting osteoblast/osteocyte apoptosis. J Endocrinol 183:203-216.
- 210. Sottile V, Seuwen K, Kneissel M 2004 Enhanced marrow adipogenesis and bone resorption in estrogen-deprived rats treated with the PPARgamma agonist BRL49653 (rosiglitazone). Calcif Tissue Int 75:329-337.
- 211. Ali AA, Weinstein RS, Stewart SA, Parfitt AM, Manolagas SC, Jilka RL 2005 Rosiglitazone causes bone loss in mice by suppressing osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Endocrinology 146:1226-1235.
- 212. Tontonoz P, Hu E, Spiegelman BM 1994 Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPAR gamma 2, a lipid-activated transcription factor. Cell 79:1147-1156.
- 213. Chawla A, Schwarz EJ, Dimaculangan DD, Lazar MA 1994 Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor (PPAR) gamma: adipose-predominant expression and induction early in adipocyte differentiation. Endocrinology 135:798-800.
- 214. Rosen ED, Sarraf P, Troy AE, Bradwin G, Moore K, Milstone DS, Spiegelman BM, Mortensen RM 1999 PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue in vivo and in vitro. Mol Cell 4:611-617.
- 215. Barak Y, Nelson MC, Ong ES, Jones YZ, Ruiz-Lozano P, Chien KR, Koder A, Evans RM 1999 PPAR gamma is required for placental, cardiac, and adipose tissue development. Mol Cell 4:585-595.
- 216. Ducy P, Amling M, Takeda S, Priemel M, Schilling AF, Beil FT, Shen J, Vinson C, Rueger JM, Karsenty G 2000 Leptin inhibits bone formation through a hypothalamic relay: a central control of bone mass. Cell 100:197-207.
- 217. Takeda S, Elefteriou F, Levasseur R, Liu X, Zhao L, Parker KL, Armstrong D, Ducy P, Karsenty G 2002 Leptin regulates bone formation via the sympathetic nervous system. Cell 111:305-317.
- 218. Patel MS, Elefteriou F 2007 The new field of neuroskeletal biology. Calcif Tissue Int 80:337-347.
- 219. Elefteriou F, Ahn JD, Takeda S, Starbuck M, Yang X, Liu X, Kondo H, Richards WG, Bannon TW, Noda M, Clement K, Vaisse C, Karsenty G 2005 Leptin regulation of bone resorption by the sympathetic nervous system and CART. Nature 434:514-520.
- 220. Elefteriou F, Takeda S, Ebihara K, Magre J, Patano N, Kim CA, Ogawa Y, Liu X, Ware SM, Craigen WJ, Robert JJ, Vinson C, Nakao K, Capeau J, Karsenty G 2004 Serum leptin level is a regulator of bone mass. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:3258-3263.

- Bonnet N, Pierroz DD, Ferrari SL 2008 Adrenergic control of bone remodeling and its implications for the treatment of osteoporosis. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 8:94-104.
- 222. Takeda S, Karsenty G 2008 Molecular bases of the sympathetic regulation of bone mass. Bone 42:837-840.
- 223. Fain JN, Madan AK, Hiler ML, Cheema P, Bahouth SW 2004 Comparison of the release of adipokines by adipose tissue, adipose tissue matrix, and adipocytes from visceral and subcutaneous abdominal adipose tissues of obese humans. Endocrinology 145:2273-2282.
- 224. Fernandez-Real JM, Ricart W 2003 Insulin resistance and chronic cardiovascular inflammatory syndrome. Endocr Rev 24:278-301.
- 225. Helle M, Brakenhoff JP, De Groot ER, Aarden LA 1988 Interleukin 6 is involved in interleukin 1-induced activities. Eur J Immunol 18:957-959.
- 226. Ishimi Y, Miyaura C, Jin CH, Akatsu T, Abe E, Nakamura Y, Yamaguchi A, Yoshiki S, Matsuda T, Hirano T, . 1990 IL-6 is produced by osteoblasts and induces bone resorption. J Immunol 145:3297-3303.
- 227. Littlewood AJ, Russell J, Harvey GR, Hughes DE, Russell RG, Gowen M 1991 The modulation of the expression of IL-6 and its receptor in human osteoblasts in vitro. Endocrinology 129:1513-1520.
- 228. De Benedetti F, Rucci N, Del FA, Peruzzi B, Paro R, Longo M, Vivarelli M, Muratori F, Berni S, Ballanti P, Ferrari S, Teti A 2006 Impaired skeletal development in interleukin-6-transgenic mice: a model for the impact of chronic inflammation on the growing skeletal system. Arthritis Rheum 54:3551-3563.
- 229. Tsangari H, Findlay DM, Kuliwaba JS, Atkins GJ, Fazzalari NL 2004 Increased expression of IL-6 and RANK mRNA in human trabecular bone from fragility fracture of the femoral neck. Bone 35:334-342.
- 230. Nakashima T, Kobayashi Y, Yamasaki S, Kawakami A, Eguchi K, Sasaki H, Sakai H 2000 Protein expression and functional difference of membrane-bound and soluble receptor activator of NF-kappaB ligand: modulation of the expression by osteotropic factors and cytokines. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 275:768-775.
- 231. Kwan TS, Padrines M, Theoleyre S, Heymann D, Fortun Y 2004 IL-6, RANKL, TNFalpha/IL-1: interrelations in bone resorption pathophysiology. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15:49-60.
- 232. Pacifici R, Vannice JL, Rifas L, Kimble RB 1993 Monocytic secretion of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in normal and osteoporotic women: effects of menopause and estrogen/progesterone therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 77:1135-1141.

- 233. Pacifici R, Rifas L, McCracken R, Vered I, McMurtry C, Avioli LV, Peck WA 1989 Ovarian steroid treatment blocks a postmenopausal increase in blood monocyte interleukin 1 release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:2398-2402.
- 234. Bismar H, Diel I, Ziegler R, Pfeilschifter J 1995 Increased cytokine secretion by human bone marrow cells after menopause or discontinuation of estrogen replacement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 80:3351-3355.
- 235. Girasole G, Jilka RL, Passeri G, Boswell S, Boder G, Williams DC, Manolagas SC 1992 17 beta-estradiol inhibits interleukin-6 production by bone marrow-derived stromal cells and osteoblasts in vitro: a potential mechanism for the antiosteoporotic effect of estrogens. J Clin Invest 89:883-891.
- 236. Stein B, Yang MX 1995 Repression of the interleukin-6 promoter by estrogen receptor is mediated by NF-kappa B and C/EBP beta. Mol Cell Biol 15:4971-4979.
- Pottratz ST, Bellido T, Mocharla H, Crabb D, Manolagas SC 1994 17 beta-Estradiol inhibits expression of human interleukin-6 promoter-reporter constructs by a receptordependent mechanism. J Clin Invest 93:944-950.
- 238. Kassem M, Harris SA, Spelsberg TC, Riggs BL 1996 Estrogen inhibits interleukin-6 production and gene expression in a human osteoblastic cell line with high levels of estrogen receptors. J Bone Miner Res 11:193-199.
- 239. Kurebayashi S, Miyashita Y, Hirose T, Kasayama S, Akira S, Kishimoto T 1997 Characterization of mechanisms of interleukin-6 gene repression by estrogen receptor. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 60:11-17.
- 240. Galien R, Evans HF, Garcia T 1996 Involvement of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein and nuclear factor-kappa B binding sites in interleukin-6 promoter inhibition by estrogens. Mol Endocrinol 10:713-722.
- 241. Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM 1993 Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science 259:87-91.
- 242. Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM 1995 Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 95:2409-2415.
- 243. Bertolini DR, Nedwin GE, Bringman TS, Smith DD, Mundy GR 1986 Stimulation of bone resorption and inhibition of bone formation in vitro by human tumour necrosis factors. Nature 319:516-518.
- 244. Canalis E 1987 Effects of tumor necrosis factor on bone formation in vitro. Endocrinology 121:1596-1604.
- 245. Centrella M, McCarthy TL, Canalis E 1988 Tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibits collagen synthesis and alkaline phosphatase activity independently of its effect on

deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in osteoblast-enriched bone cell cultures. Endocrinology 123:1442-1448.

- 246. Smith DD, Gowen M, Mundy GR 1987 Effects of interferon-gamma and other cytokines on collagen synthesis in fetal rat bone cultures. Endocrinology 120:2494-2499.
- 247. Li YP, Stashenko P 1992 Proinflammatory cytokines tumor necrosis factor-alpha and IL-6, but not IL-1, down-regulate the osteocalcin gene promoter. J Immunol 148:788-794.
- 248. Stashenko P, Dewhirst FE, Peros WJ, Kent RL, Ago JM 1987 Synergistic interactions between interleukin 1, tumor necrosis factor, and lymphotoxin in bone resorption. J Immunol 138:1464-1468.
- 249. Gowen M, MacDonald BR, Russell RG 1988 Actions of recombinant human gammainterferon and tumor necrosis factor alpha on the proliferation and osteoblastic characteristics of human trabecular bone cells in vitro. Arthritis Rheum 31:1500-1507.
- 250. Nanes MS, McKoy WM, Marx SJ 1989 Inhibitory effects of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma on deoxyribonucleic acid and collagen synthesis by rat osteosarcoma cells (ROS 17/2.8). Endocrinology 124:339-345.
- 251. Nanes MS 2003 Tumor necrosis factor-alpha: molecular and cellular mechanisms in skeletal pathology. Gene 321:1-15.
- 252. Pisetsky DS 2000 Tumor necrosis factor blockers in rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 342:810-811.
- 253. Lannigan FJ, O'Higgins P, Mcphie P 1993 The cellular mechanism of ossicular erosion in chronic suppurative otitis media. J Laryngol Otol 107:12-16.
- Baroukh B, Saffar JL 1991 Identification of osteoclasts and their mononuclear precursors. A comparative histological and histochemical study in hamster periodontitis. J Periodontal Res 26:161-166.
- 255. Nair SP, Meghji S, Wilson M, Reddi K, White P, Henderson B 1996 Bacterially induced bone destruction: mechanisms and misconceptions. Infect Immun 64:2371-2380.
- 256. Bom-van Noorloos AA, van der Meer JW, van de Gevel JS, Schepens E, van Steenbergen TJ, Burger EH 1990 Bacteroides gingivalis stimulates bone resorption via interleukin-1 production by mononuclear cells. The relative role for B. gingivalis endotoxin. J Clin Periodontol 17:409-413.
- 257. Birkedal-Hansen H 1993 Role of cytokines and inflammatory mediators in tissue destruction. J Periodontal Res 28:500-510.
- 258. Kudo O, Fujikawa Y, Itonaga I, Sabokbar A, Torisu T, Athanasou NA 2002 Proinflammatory cytokine (TNFalpha/IL-1alpha) induction of human osteoclast formation. J Pathol 198:220-227.

- 259. Manolagas SC 1995 Role of cytokines in bone resorption. Bone 17:63S-67S.
- 260. Zhang YH, Heulsmann A, Tondravi MM, Mukherjee A, bu-Amer Y 2001 Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF) stimulates RANKL-induced osteoclastogenesis via coupling of TNF type 1 receptor and RANK signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 276:563-568.
- 261. Abu-Amer Y, Erdmann J, Alexopoulou L, Kollias G, Ross FP, Teitelbaum SL 2000 Tumor necrosis factor receptors types 1 and 2 differentially regulate osteoclastogenesis. J Biol Chem 275:27307-27310.
- 262. Abu-Amer Y, Ross FP, Edwards J, Teitelbaum SL 1997 Lipopolysaccharide-stimulated osteoclastogenesis is mediated by tumor necrosis factor via its P55 receptor. J Clin Invest 100:1557-1565.
- 263. Boyce BF, Xing L, Franzoso G, Siebenlist U 1999 Required and nonessential functions of nuclear factor-kappa B in bone cells. Bone 25:137-139.
- 264. Yoshida H, Hayashi S, Kunisada T, Ogawa M, Nishikawa S, Okamura H, Sudo T, Shultz LD, Nishikawa S 1990 The murine mutation osteopetrosis is in the coding region of the macrophage colony stimulating factor gene. Nature 345:442-444.
- 265. Wiktor-Jedrzejczak W, Urbanowska E, Aukerman SL, Pollard JW, Stanley ER, Ralph P, Ansari AA, Sell KW, Szperl M 1991 Correction by CSF-1 of defects in the osteopetrotic op/op mouse suggests local, developmental, and humoral requirements for this growth factor. Exp Hematol 19:1049-1054.
- 266. Franzoso G, Carlson L, Xing L, Poljak L, Shores EW, Brown KD, Leonardi A, Tran T, Boyce BF, Siebenlist U 1997 Requirement for NF-kappaB in osteoclast and B-cell development. Genes Dev 11:3482-3496.
- 267. Gilbert L, He X, Farmer P, Rubin J, Drissi H, van Wijnen AJ, Lian JB, Stein GS, Nanes MS 2002 Expression of the osteoblast differentiation factor RUNX2 (Cbfa1/AML3/Pebp2alpha A) is inhibited by tumor necrosis factor-alpha. J Biol Chem 277:2695-2701.
- 268. Komori T, Yagi H, Nomura S, Yamaguchi A, Sasaki K, Deguchi K, Shimizu Y, Bronson RT, Gao YH, Inada M, Sato M, Okamoto R, Kitamura Y, Yoshiki S, Kishimoto T 1997 Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. Cell 89:755-764.
- 269. McCarthy TL, Ji C, Chen Y, Kim KK, Imagawa M, Ito Y, Centrella M 2000 Runt domain factor (Runx)-dependent effects on CCAAT/ enhancer-binding protein delta expression and activity in osteoblasts. J Biol Chem 275:21746-21753.
- 270. Javed A, Barnes GL, Jasanya BO, Stein JL, Gerstenfeld L, Lian JB, Stein GS 2001 runt homology domain transcription factors (Runx, Cbfa, and AML) mediate repression of the bone sialoprotein promoter: evidence for promoter context-dependent activity of Cbfa proteins. Mol Cell Biol 21:2891-2905.

- 271. Anderson HC, Sipe JB, Hessle L, Dhanyamraju R, Atti E, Camacho NP, Millan JL 2004 Impaired calcification around matrix vesicles of growth plate and bone in alkaline phosphatase-deficient mice. Am J Pathol 164:841-847.
- 272. Mornet E 2000 Hypophosphatasia: the mutations in the tissue-nonspecific alkaline phosphatase gene. Hum Mutat 15:309-315.
- 273. Lipton A, Costa L, Ali S, Demers L 2001 Use of markers of bone turnover for monitoring bone metastases and the response to therapy. Semin Oncol 28:54-59.
- 274. Rader JI, Howard GA, Feist E, Turner RT, Baylink DJ 1979 Bone mineralization and metabolism of 3H-25-hydroxyvitamin D3 in thyroparathyroidectomized rats treated with parathyroid extract. Calcif Tissue Int 29:21-26.
- 275. Reichel H, Koeffler HP, Norman AW 1989 The role of the vitamin D endocrine system in health and disease. N Engl J Med 320:980-991.
- 276. Demay MB, Gerardi JM, DeLuca HF, Kronenberg HM 1990 DNA sequences in the rat osteocalcin gene that bind the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor and confer responsiveness to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:369-373.
- 277. Harrison JR, Petersen DN, Lichtler AC, Mador AT, Rowe DW, Kream BE 1989 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibits transcription of type I collagen genes in the rat osteosarcoma cell line ROS 17/2.8. Endocrinology 125:327-333.
- 278. Noda M, Vogel RL, Craig AM, Prahl J, DeLuca HF, Denhardt DT 1990 Identification of a DNA sequence responsible for binding of the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 enhancement of mouse secreted phosphoprotein 1 (SPP-1 or osteopontin) gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87:9995-9999.
- 279. Nanes MS, Rubin J, Titus L, Hendy GN, Catherwood B 1991 Tumor necrosis factoralpha inhibits 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3-stimulated bone Gla protein synthesis in rat osteosarcoma cells (ROS 17/2.8) by a pretranslational mechanism. Endocrinology 128:2577-2582.
- Mayur N, Lewis S, Catherwood BD, Nanes MS 1993 Tumor necrosis factor alpha decreases 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptors in osteoblastic ROS 17/2.8 cells. J Bone Miner Res 8:997-1003.
- Malloy PJ, Hochberg Z, Tiosano D, Pike JW, Hughes MR, Feldman D 1990 The molecular basis of hereditary 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 resistant rickets in seven related families. J Clin Invest 86:2071-2079.
- 282. Piepkorn B, Kann P, Forst T, Andreas J, Pfutzner A, Beyer J 1997 Bone mineral density and bone metabolism in diabetes mellitus. Horm Metab Res 29:584-591.
- 283. Heath H, III, Melton LJ, III, Chu CP 1980 Diabetes mellitus and risk of skeletal fracture. N Engl J Med 303:567-570.

- 284. Kathol MH, el-Khoury GY, Moore TE, Marsh JL 1991 Calcaneal insufficiency avulsion fractures in patients with diabetes mellitus. Radiology 180:725-729.
- 285. Melton LJ, III, Leibson CL, Achenbach SJ, Therneau TM, Khosla S 2008 Fracture risk in type 2 diabetes: update of a population-based study. J Bone Miner Res 23:1334-1342.
- Viguet-Carrin S, Garnero P, Delmas PD 2006 The role of collagen in bone strength. Osteoporos Int 17:319-336.
- 287. Garnero P, Borel O, Gineyts E, Duboeuf F, Solberg H, Bouxsein ML, Christiansen C, Delmas PD 2006 Extracellular post-translational modifications of collagen are major determinants of biomechanical properties of fetal bovine cortical bone. Bone 38:300-309.
- 288. Wang X, Shen X, Li X, Agrawal CM 2002 Age-related changes in the collagen network and toughness of bone. Bone 31:1-7.
- 289. Saito M, Fujii K, Soshi S, Tanaka T 2006 Reductions in degree of mineralization and enzymatic collagen cross-links and increases in glycation-induced pentosidine in the femoral neck cortex in cases of femoral neck fracture. Osteoporos Int 17:986-995.
- 290. Valcourt U, Merle B, Gineyts E, Viguet-Carrin S, Delmas PD, Garnero P 2007 Nonenzymatic glycation of bone collagen modifies osteoclastic activity and differentiation. J Biol Chem 282:5691-5703.
- 291. Vashishth D, Gibson GJ, Khoury JI, Schaffler MB, Kimura J, Fyhrie DP 2001 Influence of nonenzymatic glycation on biomechanical properties of cortical bone. Bone 28:195-201.
- 292. Hernandez CJ, Tang SY, Baumbach BM, Hwu PB, Sakkee AN, van der HF, DeGroot J, Bank RA, Keaveny TM 2005 Trabecular microfracture and the influence of pyridinium and non-enzymatic glycation-mediated collagen cross-links. Bone 37:825-832.
- 293. Niyibizi C, Eyre DR 1994 Structural characteristics of cross-linking sites in type V collagen of bone. Chain specificities and heterotypic links to type I collagen. Eur J Biochem 224:943-950.
- 294. Brodsky B, Shah NK 1995 Protein motifs. 8. The triple-helix motif in proteins. FASEB J 9:1537-1546.
- 295. Saito M, Soshi S, Fujii K 2003 Effect of hyper- and microgravity on collagen posttranslational controls of MC3T3-E1 osteoblasts. J Bone Miner Res 18:1695-1705.
- 296. Saito M, Soshi S, Tanaka T, Fujii K 2004 Intensity-related differences in collagen posttranslational modification in MC3T3-E1 osteoblasts after exposure to low- and highintensity pulsed ultrasound. Bone 35:644-655.

- 297. Saito M, Fujii K, Tanaka T, Soshi S 2004 Effect of low- and high-intensity pulsed ultrasound on collagen post-translational modifications in MC3T3-E1 osteoblasts. Calcif Tissue Int 75:384-395.
- 298. Uzawa K, Grzesik WJ, Nishiura T, Kuznetsov SA, Robey PG, Brenner DA, Yamauchi M 1999 Differential expression of human lysyl hydroxylase genes, lysine hydroxylation, and cross-linking of type I collagen during osteoblastic differentiation in vitro. J Bone Miner Res 14:1272-1280.
- 299. Yamauchi M, Katz EP 1993 The post-translational chemistry and molecular packing of mineralizing tendon collagens. Connect Tissue Res 29:81-98.
- 300. Paul RG, Bailey AJ 1996 Glycation of collagen: the basis of its central role in the late complications of ageing and diabetes. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 28:1297-1310.
- Vashishth D 2007 The role of the collagen matrix in skeletal fragility. Curr Osteoporos Rep 5:62-66.
- 302. Thompson JB, Kindt JH, Drake B, Hansma HG, Morse DE, Hansma PK 2001 Bone indentation recovery time correlates with bond reforming time. Nature 414:773-776.
- Vashishth D, Behiri JC, Bonfield W 1997 Crack growth resistance in cortical bone: concept of microcrack toughening. J Biomech 30:763-769.
- Vashishth D 2007 Hierarchy of Bone Microdamage at Multiple Length Scales. Int J Fatigue 29:1024-1033.
- 305. Tang SY, Zeenath U, Vashishth D 2007 Effects of non-enzymatic glycation on cancellous bone fragility. Bone 40:1144-1151.
- 306. Saito M, Marumo K, Fujii K, Ishioka N 1997 Single-column high-performance liquid chromatographic-fluorescence detection of immature, mature, and senescent cross-links of collagen. Anal Biochem 253:26-32.
- 307. Vlassara H, Bucala R, Striker L 1994 Pathogenic effects of advanced glycosylation: biochemical, biologic, and clinical implications for diabetes and aging. Lab Invest 70:138-151.
- 308. Schleicher ED, Wagner E, Nerlich AG 1997 Increased accumulation of the glycoxidation product N(epsilon)-(carboxymethyl)lysine in human tissues in diabetes and aging. J Clin Invest 99:457-468.
- 309. Schnider SL, Kohn RR 1981 Effects of age and diabetes mellitus on the solubility and nonenzymatic glucosylation of human skin collagen. J Clin Invest 67:1630-1635.
- 310. Brownlee M 1995 Advanced protein glycosylation in diabetes and aging. Annu Rev Med 46:223-234.

- 311. Saito M, Fujii K, Mori Y, Marumo K 2006 Role of collagen enzymatic and glycation induced cross-links as a determinant of bone quality in spontaneously diabetic WBN/Kob rats. Osteoporos Int 17:1514-1523.
- 312. Verhaeghe J, Suiker AM, Einhorn TA, Geusens P, Visser WJ, Van HE, Van BR, Magitsky S, Bouillon R 1994 Brittle bones in spontaneously diabetic female rats cannot be predicted by bone mineral measurements: studies in diabetic and ovariectomized rats. J Bone Miner Res 9:1657-1667.
- 313. Donnelly E 2010 Methods for Assessing Bone Quality: A Review. Clin Orthop Relat Res.
- Hengsberger S, Kulik A, Zysset P 2002 Nanoindentation discriminates the elastic properties of individual human bone lamellae under dry and physiological conditions. Bone 30:178-184.
- Rho JY, Roy ME, Tsui TY, Pharr GM 1999 Elastic properties of microstructural components of human bone tissue as measured by nanoindentation. J Biomed Mater Res 45:48-54.
- 316. Lane NE, Yao W, Balooch M, Nalla RK, Balooch G, Habelitz S, Kinney JH, Bonewald LF 2006 Glucocorticoid-treated mice have localized changes in trabecular bone material properties and osteocyte lacunar size that are not observed in placebo-treated or estrogendeficient mice. J Bone Miner Res 21:466-476.
- 317. Yamamoto M, Yamaguchi T, Yamauchi M, Kaji H, Sugimoto T 2009 Diabetic patients have an increased risk of vertebral fractures independent of BMD or diabetic complications. J Bone Miner Res 24:702-709.
- 318. Yamagishi S, Nakamura K, Inoue H 2005 Possible participation of advanced glycation end products in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis in diabetic patients. Med Hypotheses 65:1013-1015.
- 319. Huang S, Kaw M, Harris MT, Ebraheim N, McInerney MF, Najjar SM, Lecka-Czernik B 2010 Decreased osteoclastogenesis and high bone mass in mice with impaired insulin clearance due to liver-specific inactivation to CEACAM1. Bone 46:1138-1145.
- 320. Bax BE, Alam AS, Banerji B, Bax CM, Bevis PJ, Stevens CR, Moonga BS, Blake DR, Zaidi M 1992 Stimulation of osteoclastic bone resorption by hydrogen peroxide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 183:1153-1158.
- 321. Mody N, Parhami F, Sarafian TA, Demer LL 2001 Oxidative stress modulates osteoblastic differentiation of vascular and bone cells. Free Radic Biol Med 31:509-519.
- 322. Chen RM, Wu GJ, Chang HC, Chen JT, Chen TF, Lin YL, Chen TL 2005 2,6-Diisopropylphenol protects osteoblasts from oxidative stress-induced apoptosis through suppression of caspase-3 activation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1042:448-459.

- 323. Fatokun AA, Stone TW, Smith RA 2006 Hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress in MC3T3-E1 cells: The effects of glutamate and protection by purines. Bone 39:542-551.
- 324. Cortizo AM, Lettieri MG, Barrio DA, Mercer N, Etcheverry SB, McCarthy AD 2003 Advanced glycation end-products (AGEs) induce concerted changes in the osteoblastic expression of their receptor RAGE and in the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK). Mol Cell Biochem 250:1-10.
- 325. McCarthy AD, Etcheverry SB, Bruzzone L, Lettieri G, Barrio DA, Cortizo AM 2001 Non-enzymatic glycosylation of a type I collagen matrix: effects on osteoblastic development and oxidative stress. BMC Cell Biol 2:16.
- 326. Garrett IR, Boyce BF, Oreffo RO, Bonewald L, Poser J, Mundy GR 1990 Oxygenderived free radicals stimulate osteoclastic bone resorption in rodent bone in vitro and in vivo. J Clin Invest 85:632-639.
- 327. Jagger CJ, Lean JM, Davies JT, Chambers TJ 2005 Tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates osteopenia caused by depletion of antioxidants. Endocrinology 146:113-118.
- 328. Canalis E 1983 Effect of hormones and growth factors on alkaline phosphatase activity and collagen synthesis in cultured rat calvariae. Metabolism, 32:14-20.
- 329. Thomas DM, Udagawa N, Hards DK, Quinn JM, Moseley JM, Findlay DM, et al.1998 Insulin receptor expression in primary and cultured osteoclast-like cells Bone, 23:181-186.
- 330. Thrailkill KM, Lumpkin CK Jr., Bunn RC, Kemp SF, Fowlkes JL 2005 Is insulin an anabolic agent in bone? Dissecting the diabetic bone for clues. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 289:E735-E745.
- 331. White MF 2003 Insulin signaling in health and disease. Science 302:1710-1711.
- 332. Reaven G 1988 Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes. 37:1595–1607.
- 333. Warram JH, Martin BC, Krolewski AS, et al. 1990 Slow glucose removal rate and hyperinsulinemia precede the development of type II diabetes in the offspring of the diabetic parents. Ann Intern Med. 113:909–912.
- Lillioja S, Mott DM, Spraul M, et al. 1993 Insulin resistance and insulin secretory dysfunction as precursors of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 329:1988–1992.
- 335. Maricic M 2005 Ethnic variation in bone mineral density: on the road to fracture prevention. Menopause 12:492-494.
- 336. Leslie WD, Weiler HA, Lix LM, Nyomba BL 2008 Body composition and bone density in Canadian White and Aboriginal women: the First Nations Bone Health Study. Bone 42:990-995.

- 337. 2005 Health Characteristics of the American Indian and Alaska Native Adult Population: United States. Centers for Disease Control.
- 338. Price RA, Charles MA, Pettitt DJ, Knowler WC 1993 Obesity in Pima Indians: large increases among post-World War II birth cohorts. Am J Phys Anthropol 92:473-479.
- 339. Loomis WF 1967 Skin-pigment regulation of vitamin-D biosynthesis in man. Science 157:501-506.
- 340. Johnson JD, Simoons FJ, Hurwitz R, Grange A, Sinatra FR, Sunshine P, Robertson WV, Bennett PH, Kretchmer N 1978 Lactose malabsorption among adult Indians of the Great Basin and American Southwest. Am J Clin Nutr 31:381-387.
- 341. Boucher BJ 1998 Inadequate vitamin D status: does it contribute to the disorders comprising syndrome 'X'? Br J Nutr 79:315-327.
- 342. Institute of Medicine. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2011.
- 343. de Boer IH, Ioannou GN, Kestenbaum BK, Brunzell JD and Weiss NS 2007 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels and Albuminuria in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). Am J Kidney Dis 50(1):69-77.
- 344. Wettenhall RE H, Schwartz P L, Bornstein J 1969 Actions of insulin and growth hormone on collagen and chondroitin sulfate synthesis in bone organ cultures. Diabetes 18: 280-284.
- 345. Canalis E M, Dietrich J W, Maina D M, Raisz L G. 1977 Hormonal control of bone collagen synthesis in vitro: effects of insulin and glucagon. Endocrinology 100: 668-674.
- 346. Raisz LC, Canalis E M, Dietrich J Wet al. 1978 Hormonal regulation of bone formation. Recent Prog Horm Res 34: 335-356.
- 347. Kotronen A, Juurinen L, Tiikkainen M, Vehkavaara S, Yki-Jarvinen H 2008 Increased liver fat, impaired insulin clearance, and hepatic and adipose tissue insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes. Gastroenterology. 135(1):122-30.
- 348. Kotronen A, Vehkavaara S, Seppälä-Lindroos A BergholmR, Yki-Järvinen H 2007 Effect of liver fat on insulin clearance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 293:E1709-E171.
- 349. Ionova-Martin SS, Wade JM, Tang S, Shahnazari M, Ager JW III, Lane NE, Yao W, Alliston T, Vaisse C, RitchieRO 2011 Changes in cortical bone response to high-fat diet from adolescence to adulthood in mice. Osteoporos Int 22:2283–2293).
- 350. Koh WP, Wang R, Ang LW, Heng D, Yuan JM, Yu MC 2010 Diabetes and Risk of Hip Fracture in the Singapore Chinese Health Study. Diabetes Care 33(8):1766-1770.

- 351. Ottenbacher KJ, Ostir GV, Peek MK, Goodwin JS, Markides KS 2002 Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for hip fracture in Mexican American older adults.J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 57:M648–M653.
- 352. Meyer HE, Tverdal A, Falch JA 1993 Risk factors for hip fracture in middle-aged Norwegian women and men. Am J Epidemiol 137:1203–1211.
- 353. Forsen L, Meyer HE, Midthjell K, Edna TH 1999 Diabetes mellitus and the incidence of hip fracture: results from the Nord-Trondelag Health Survey. Diabetologia 42:920–925.
- 354. Verhaeghe J, van Herck E, Visser WJ, et al. 1990 Bone and mineral metabolism in BB rats with long-term diabetes. Decreased bone turnover and osteoporosis. Diabetes 39:477-482.
- 355. Reddy GK, Stehno-Bittel L, Hamade S, et al. 2001 The biomechanical integrity of bone in experimental diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 54:1-8.
- 356. Oz SG, Guven GS, Kilicarslan A, Calik N, Beyazit Y and Sozen T 2006 Evaluation of Bone Metabolism and Bone Mass in Patients with Type-2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Natl Med Assoc 98(10) 1598-1604.
- Bouillon R, Bex M, Van Herck E, et al. 1995 Influence of age, sex, and insulin on osteoblast function: osteoblast dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. J Clin EndocrinolMetab. 80:1194-1202.
- 358. Stepan J, Havranek T, Formankova J, et al. 1980 Bone isoenzyme of serum alkaline phosphatase in diabetes mellitus. Clin Chim Acta. 105:75-81.
- 359. Gallacher SJ, Fenner J A, Fisher BM, et al. 1993 An evaluation of bone density and turnover in premenopausal women with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabet Med. 10:129-133.
- 360. Holinka CF, Christiansen C, Tian XW, Ausmanas MK 2008 Ethnic differences in levels of bone and cartilage biomarkers and hormonal responsiveness in nine groups of postmenopausal Asian women: The Pan-Asia Menopause (PAM) study. CLIMACTERIC;11:44–54.
- 361. Gowen M, Wood DD, Ihrie EJ, McGuire MKB, Russell RGG 1983 An interleukin-I -like factor stimulates bone resorption in vitro. Nature 306378-380.
- 362. Lorenzo JA, Sousa SL, Alander C, Raisz LG, Dinarello CA 1987 Comparison of the bone-resorbing activity in the supernatants from phytohemaglutinin-stimulated human peripheral blood mononuclear cells with that of cytokines through the use of an antiserum to interleukin 1. Endocrinology 121:1164-1 170.
- 363. Boyce BF, Aufdemorte TB, Garrett IR, Yates AJP, Mundy GR 1989 Effects of interleukin-1 on bone turnover in normal mice.Endocrinology 1251142-1 150.

- 364. Sabatini M, Boyce B, Aufdemorte T, Bonewald L, Mundy GR 1988 Infusions of recombinant human interleukin 1 alpha and beta cause hypercalcemia in normal mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 855235-5239.
- 365. Johnson RA, Boyce BF, Mundy GR, Roodman GD 1989 Tumors producing human tumor necrosis factor induce hypercalcemia and osteoclastic bone resorption in nude mice. Endocrinology 124:1424-1427.
- 366. Heiland GR, Zwerina K, Baum W, Kireva T, Distler JH, Grisanti M, Asuncion F, Li X, Ominsky M, Richards W, G Schett G, Zwerina J 2010 Neutralisation of Dkk-1 protects from systemic bone loss during inflammation and reduces sclerostin expression. Ann Rheum Dis;69:2152–2159.
- 367. Best LG, Zhang Y, Lee ET, Yeh JL, Cowan L, Palmieri V, Roman M, Devereux RB, Fabsitz RR, Tracy RP, Robbins D, Davidson M, Ahmed A, Howard BV 2005 C-reactive protein as a predictor of cardiovascular risk in a population with a high prevalence of diabetes: the Strong Heart Study. Circulation 30;112(9):1289-95.

APPPENDICES

	Non DM <sup>1</sup>	$\operatorname{All} \operatorname{DM}^2$	DM<10 <sup>3</sup>	DM≥10 <sup>4</sup>	Р	Р
					(1vs2)	(1vs3vs4)
Total Hip Baseline						
BMA (cm <sup>2</sup> ) BMC (g) T-score Final	33.8±0.37 29.0±0.56 -0.67±0.12	33.2±0.40 30.8±0.91 -0.14±0.19	33.0±0.73 30.2±1.46 -0.25±0.28	33.0±0.52 30.8±1.27 -0.10±0.28	0.283 0.087 0.014	0.423 0.338 0.075
BMA (cm <sup>2</sup> ) BMC (g) <u>T-score</u>	33.9±0.37 29.3±0.57 -0.63±0.13	33.5±0.45 31.1±0.97 -0.13±0.19	$33.7\pm0.79$ $31.1\pm1.55$ $-0.17\pm0.29$	33.2±0.52 30.8±1.39 -0.13±0.28	0.444 0.078 0.021	0.629 0.286 0.103
Intertrochanter						
Baseline						
BMA $(cm^2)$	18.1±0.29	17.6±0.37	$17.5 \pm 0.74$	17.6±0.36	0.302	0.529
BMC (g)	$18.4\pm0.40$	19.7±0.67	19.2±1.17	19.8±0.86	0.070	0.285
T-score	-0.51±0.12	0.13±0.17	-0.01±0.26	0.16±0.26	0.003	$0.023^{\dagger}$
Final						
$BMA (cm^2)$	18.3±0.28	17.8±0.39	17.9±0.75	17.7±0.37	0.326	0.606
BMC (g)	18.7±0.41	20.0±0.71	20.0±1.19	19.9±0.98	0.080	0.283
T-score	-0.4 ±0.12	$0.14 \pm 0.17$	$0.10 \pm 0.27$	$0.12 \pm 0.25$	0.004	$0.034^{*}$
Trochanter						
Baseline						
$BMA (cm^2)$	10 7+0 14	10 6+0 23	10 6+0 45	10 4+0 25	0.674	0 694
$BMC(\sigma)$	$6.91\pm0.14$	7 13+0 26	719+042	6 96+0 36	0.074	0.779
T-score	-0.55+0.12	-0.29+0.18	-0.30+0.24	-0.32+0.30	0.225	0.542
Final	0.55±0.12	0.27±0.10	0.50±0.24	0.32±0.30	0.225	0.542
BMA (cm <sup>2</sup> )	107+015	107+024	10 8+0 41	10 5+0 33	0 995	0 889
BMC(g)	6 92+0 15	7 18+0 27	7 27+0 44	7 01+0 39	0.363	0.659
T-score	$-0.53\pm0.12$	$-0.33\pm0.18$	$-0.31\pm0.25$	$-0.39\pm0.31$	0.359	0.698

# Appendix A. DXA Measurements of the Hip Regions at Baseline and Final Visit According to DM Status.

Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SE. Non diabetic = non DM, all diabetic group = all DM, DM<10 = diagnosed diabetes <10 years, DM  $\ge$ 10 = diagnosed diabetes  $\ge$ 10 years. <sup>a</sup> Diabetes duration unknown in 4 participants. ANOVA showed a statistical difference across all three groups (ANOVA, p<0.05) with significant pairwise post-hoc tests denoted between: \* non DM and DM<10, † non DM and DM $\ge$ 10

11		1			0	
	Non DM <sup>1</sup>	All DM <sup>2</sup>	<b>DM</b> <10 <sup>3</sup>	DM≥10 <sup>4</sup>	Р	P
<b>Total Spine</b>						
Baseline						
<b>BMA</b> $(cm^2)$	58.1±0.51	57.1±0.97	57.2±1.46	57.3±1.52	0.287	0.687
BMC (g)	57.8±1.15	58.2±1.85	57.1±2.00	59.1±3.38	0.841	0.847
T-score	-0.50±0.15	$-0.29\pm0.20$	$-0.44\pm0.23$	$-0.22\pm0.34$	0.377	0.686
Final						
<b>BMA</b> $(cm^2)$	58.1±0.50	$57.2 \pm 0.97$	56.8±1.49	57.9±1.51	0.404	0.626
BMC (g)	57.5±1.15	$58.8 \pm 1.82$	56.9±2.14	$60.7 \pm 3.28$	0.545	0.457
<b>T-score</b>	-0.55±0.14	-0.23±0.19	-0.43±0.25	-0.07±0.32	0.191	0.335
Forearm						
Baseline						
$BMA(cm^2)$	23.5±0.22	24.1±0.34	23.9±0.51	24.4±0.52	0.138	0.257
BMC (g)	11.5±0.21	$11.8 \pm 0.27$	11.8±0.37	$11.8\pm0.45$	0.413	0.761
<b>T-score</b>	$-1.47\pm0.14$	$-1.44\pm0.18$	-1.35±0.29	$-1.58\pm0.25$	0.918	0.849
Final						
<b>BMA</b> $(cm^2)$	23.6±0.22	23.9±0.34	23.8±0.50	24.1±0.54	0.438	0.639
BMC (g)	$11.4 \pm 0.21$	$11.7 \pm 0.28$	11.7±0.37	11.7±0.47	0.475	0.778
T-score	-1.57±0.14	-1.49±0.18	-1.36±0.29	-1.61±0.25	0.724	0.783

Appendix B. DXA Measurements of the Lumbar Spine and Forearm at Baseline and Final Visit According to DM Status.

Data presented as mean  $\pm$  SE.

Non diabetic = non DM, all diabetic group = all DM, DM < 10 = diagnosed diabetes < 10 years,  $DM \ge 10$  = diagnosed diabetes  $\ge 10$  years

<sup>a</sup>Diabetes duration unknown in 4 participants.

No statistical differences were found (ANOVA, p<0.05).

# Appendix C. Consent Form.

Version OU 1-68-68

OUTRB No. 132814: HIS IEB No. 1907-03-OR

# CONSENT FORM

#### University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center (OUHSC) Oklahoma Native American Women's Osteoporosis Screening Study Sponsor: Proctor and Gamble Principal Investigator: Mary Baker, MD

This is a research study. Research studies include only individuals who choose to take part in them. Please take your time to make your decision. Discuss this with your family and friends.

#### Why Have I Been Asked To Participate In This Study?

You are being asked to take part in this study because you are a Nativo American woman 50 years of age or older who is qualified to receive services at Oklahoma Iadian Health Clinics.

#### Why 1s This Study Being Done?

Osteoporosis is a disease in which bones become weaker and are more likely to break. Currently, there is not much information available about osteoporosis risk in Native Americans and factors that may hinder access to treatment. The purpose of this study is to determine how common osteoporosis is in Native American women who receive treatment at Oklahoma Indian Health Clinics. Additionally, we want to better unders suit the factors such as diet, exercise and other health problems that may affect a persons risk for esteoporosis

#### How Many People Will Take Part In The Study?

About 300 people will take part in this study that is being conducted in the Oklahoma City area.

#### What Is Involved In The Study?

This project will require that you done to the General Clinical Research Conter (GCRC) on the University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Certer (OUHSC) campus in Oklahoma City for an osteoporasis screen and then return 2 more times for follow-up visits. 1 and 2 years later. The initial visit will take 1/2 hours and during this time you will do the following:

- complete a questionnaire related to your medical bistory. You will be asked about medications and supplements that you take, medical conditions that your doctor has hold you that you have, lifestyle habits (for example - do you smoke?) and questions related to pregnancies and breastfording.
- measure your height, weight, waist and hip circumference
- complete a questionmaire related to how much you exercise and what types of exercise you have done over the past year.
- measure your skin tone for this you will have a photo taken of the inner portion of your (dominant) forcarm using a Smartprobe Color Reader, this is the same instrument used in the cosmetic industry to assess clients skin tone color.
- a home density (a type of x-ray) scan of your whole body and some specific sites such as your back, hip and arm will be done to measure the bones in your body - for this

APPROVED
FØB 1 9 7008
OUHSC IRB

Page Lef 5

Ąį	PPROVAL EXPIRES	5
	JAN 3 1 7000	ļ
	OULISC IRB	ĺ

you will lie on an x-ray table and once you are positioned it will take a few seconds for the machine to pass over your body and take measurements of your bone.

- receive instructions and materials for completing a 3-day food record that you will return in the mail.
- be given some educational material about osteoporosis and how you can reduce your chances of having osteoporosis.
- You have the option to do a blood test we will take about 2 tablespoons (30 cc) of your blood at each visit for a total of 6 tablespoons (90cc) over the course of the 2 year study. We will measure chemicals in your body that provide information about the quality of your bones, the way you body handles calcium, and how much inflammation you have. Blood samples will be labeled with your study number and the date the sample was collected. All samples will be handled by trained study personnel only and will be stored in very cold temperature freezers in the principal investigators laboratory for up to 5 years. At the end of the 5 year period any remaining samples that have not used in the analysis will be destroyed by the principal investigator and the chairman of the Oklahoma City Area Indian Health Service Institutional Review Board will be notified. You can still participate in the study even if you don't want to do this blood test.

Blood Test: Yes No Initial

If you indicate that you have been diagnosed with Type II diabetes, we will ask your physician at the clinic to provide us with the results of your most recent hemoglobin A1c test (if they are available). This will provide us with important information about your glucose levels over several months.

At your follow-up visits to the GCRC (1 year later and 2 years later) you will be asked similar questions regarding your medical history and physical activity habits, have repeated height, weight, and bone density scans performed, and complete another 3-day food record. You will also be asked specific questions about use of medication for osteoporosis.

#### How Long Will I Be In The Study?

We think that you will be in the study for about 2 years and during that time you will be asked to come to the GCRC on the OUHSC campus three times. You can stop participating in this study at any time. If you do decide to stop participating in the study, we encourage you to talk to the researchers and your regular doctor first. There may be anticipated circumstances under which your participation may be terminated by the investigator without regard to your consent.

#### What Are The Risks of The Study?

The procedures may involve risks that are currently unforeseeable. You will undergo a bone density scan of your entire body, and specific sites including your hip, spine and forearm. If you agree to participate in this research, you will receive radiation exposure from 12 DEXA scans (a type of x-ray) that you will not receive if you choose not to participate. The radiation exposure that you will receive from these DEXA scans is approximately 2% of the amount of radiation



Version OU, 1-08-08

exposure that an x-ray technologist is permitted to receive in one year. If you agree to participate in the blood tests, the risks of drawing blood include pain at the needle site, bruising, feeling faint, and a slight risk of infection. As with any research study, there may be additional risks that we don't know about yet. You will be informed of any such risks if we learn about any.

You must <u>not</u> be pregnant while participating in this study. Due to the radiation exposure from the bone density scans, there may be some risks to an embryo or fetus, including birth defects. If you are considered of childbearing age (less than two years since your last period) you will be asked to do a pregnancy test (urine test) prior to entrance into the study and each of the follow-up visits. If you become pregnant during this study, you will be withdrawn from the study. The study physician will assist you in getting obstetrical care. Payment for all aspects of obstetrical, child, or related care will be your responsibility.

#### Are There Benefits to Taking Part in The Study?

If you agree to take part in this study, there may or may not be direct medical benefit to you. If you are in the study, you will have the opportunity to have several bone density scans at no charge, a test that is not currently available at your clinic. You will also get all of the study's dietary and clinical tests at no cost. We hope that the information learned from this study will benefit other patients with this disease in the future.

#### What Other Options Are There?

You may choose not to participate in the study. If so, you can get a bone density scan at some local hospitals and clinics for a fee. Please talk to your regular doctor about this option.

#### What About Confidentiality?

Efforts will be made to keep your personal information confidential. All of your private health information will be kept in locked file cabinets. Data will be entered into a password protected database and files managed by the principal investigator. All records will be kept confidential and participants assigned a study number. The master list of study participants and their study number will be kept in a locked file cabinet in the principal investigator's office with limited access. You will not be identifiable by name or description in any reports or publications about this study. We cannot guarantee absolute confidentiality. Your personal information may be disclosed if required by law. You will be asked to sign a separate authorization form for use or sharing of your protected health information.

There are organizations that may inspect and/or copy your research records for quality assurance and data analysis. These organizations include the US Food & Drug Administration, the National Institutes of Health and the OUHSC Institutional Review Board.

To help us protect your privacy, we have obtained a Certificate of Confidentiality from the National Institutes of Health. With this Certificate, the researchers cannot be forced to disclose information that may identify you, even by a court subpoena, in any federal, state, or local civil, criminal, administrative, legislative, or other proceedings. The researchers will use the

APPROVED		APPROVAL EXPIRES
FEB 1 9 2008	Page 3 of 5	JAN 3 1 2009
00		- OUNSO IND

Version OU, 1-08-08

Certificate to resist any demands for information that would identify you, except as explained below.

You should understand that a Certificate of Confidentiality does not prevent you or a member of your family from voluntarily releasing information about yourself or your involvement in this research. If an insurer, employer, or other person obtains your written consent to receive research information, then the researchers may not use the Certificate to withhold that information.

The Certificate of Confidentiality does not prevent the researchers from disclosing voluntarily, without your consent, information that would identify you as a participant in the research project under the following circumstances: child abuse, intent to hurt self or others.

#### What Are the Costs?

You can participate in this study with no cost to you. All study procedures including the bone density scans, dietary evaluation, physical activity assessment, educational materials and optional blood tests will be provided at no cost to you.

#### Will I Be Paid For Participating in This Study?

We will give you \$25 after you complete the first visit and at each of the 1 year and 2 year follow-up visits to help make up for your time and travel expenses. Also, if you agree to have your blood drawn for the optional blood tests you will receive an additional \$25 dollars after each visit. There is a total of up to \$150.

# What if I am Injured or Become III While Participating in this Study?

In the case of injury or illness resulting from this study, emergency medical treatment is available. OUHSC, GCRC, Proctor and Gamble, and the Indian Health Service have no policy or plan to pay for any injuries you might receive as a result of participating in this research protocol.

### What Are My Rights As a Participant?

Taking part in this study is voluntary. You may choose not to take part or may leave the study at any time. If you agree to take part and then decide against it, you can withdraw for any reason; however, please be sure to discuss leaving the study with the principal investigator or your regular physician. Leaving the study will not result in any penalty or loss of benefits that you would otherwise receive.

We will tell you about any new information that may affect your health, welfare or willingness to stay in this study.

You have the right to access the medical information that has been collected about you as a part of this research study. However, you agree that you may not have access to this medical information until the entire research study has completely finished and you consent to this temporary restriction.

APPROVED		APPROVAL EXPIRES
FEB 1 9 2008	Page 4 of 5	JAN 3 1 2009
OUHSC IRB		

Version OU, 1-08-08

OU IRB No: 13281& IHS IRB No: P-07-03-OK

# Whom Do I Call If I have Questions or Problems?

If you have questions, concerns or complaints about the study or have a research-related injury, contact Dr. Brenda Smith at 405-744-3866 or 405-878-6364 after hours.

For questions about your rights as a research subject, contact the OUHSC Director, Human Research Participant Protection Program at 405-271-2045 or Dr. Travis Watts, Chairman of the Oklahoma City Area Indian Health Service Institutional Review Board at 405-951-3829.

#### Signature:

By signing this form, you are agreeing to participate in this research study under the conditions described. You have not given up any of your legal rights or released any individual or entity from liability for negligence. You have been given an opportunity to ask questions. You will be given a copy of this consent document.

I agree to participate in this study:

Research Subject: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Date: \_\_\_\_\_\_

Subject's Printed Name

Person Obtaining Informed Consent:\_\_\_\_\_\_ Date:\_\_\_\_\_\_

APPROVED	
FEB 1 9 2008	
OUHSC IRB	_

Page 5 of 5



Appendix D. Medical History Form.

IRB No: 13281

# Oklahoma Native American Women's Osteoporosis Screening Study

Study ID: Date of Birth: Blood	Date: line: (Indicate tribe &	_ Primary Care Physician:	
Social History: (Circle Y for yes and N Do you currently smoke? Y N Do you drink alcohol? Y N If Do you have any special needs relations	l for no) If yes,packs yes, how often/how ated to your culture	/day Do you use other forms of tobacco? Y N w much:/ e?	
Education: (Circle the highest level)	Grade: 1 2 3 4	5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 College: 1 2 3 4 5+	
Allergies: (List any drug, food, contact,	or environmental sub	stance you have had an allergic reaction)	
Medications & Supplements: (Lis	t any prescription, ove	er-the-counter, herbal, vitamin, or nutritional supplement you are	
1)	4)	7)	
2)	5)	8)	
3)	6)	9)	
Past Hospitalizations or Surgerie approximate date.) 1)	es: (List all illnesses/s	surgeries for which you have been hospitalized <u>and</u> the 4)	
2)		5)	
3)		6)	
<b>Reproductive History:</b> (Circle Y for Have you ever been pregnant: Y How many children?	yes and N for no) N If so, how r What are	nany times?	
What was your age at the time of d	elivery of your first	child?	
Did you breastfeed your children?	Y N		
Did you use oral contraceptives?	YN If so, fo	or approximately how many years?	
Do you currently have regular mens	strual period? Y	N	
What was the date of your most rec	ent menstrual peri	iod?	
Have you ever taken (female) horm	one replacement?	Y N How long did you take hormones?	

IRB No: 13281

.

Medical History: (For each illness or condition that you have had diagnosed by a physician, indicate how long ago you were diagnosed in the box to the right.)

Osteoporosis	Acthmo
	Asuma
Vertebral fracture, x-ray confirmed	Emphysma
Hip replacement	Chronic bronchitis
Wrist Fracture	Tuberculosis
Hip fracture	Depression, clinician diagnosed
Bone loss of the jaw	Osteoarthritis
Diabetes Mellitus (Type I	Breast cancer
Diabetes Mellitus (Type II)	Cancer of the uterus (endometrium)
Elevated cholesterol	Cancer of the ovary
High blood pressure	Cancer of the colon
Myocardial Infarction (heart attack)	Cancer of the lung
Angina pectoris	Melanoma
Coronary bypass or angioplasty	Basal cell skin cancer
Congestive heart failure	Squamous cell skin cancer
Stroke (CVA)	Other cancer (specify)
Peripheral artery disease or claudication of legs (not varicose veins)	Rheumatoid Arthritis
Carotid surgery	SLE (systemic lupus)
Pulmonary embolus	Lactose intolerance
Cholecystectomy	Imitable Bowel Syndrome
Glaucoma	Ulcerative colitis/Crohn's
Macular degeneration	Kidney stones
Cataract	Renal disease
Liver disease (such as cirrhosis)	

Participant's Signature:

RN Signature:

Relevant Medical	History Form
------------------	--------------

GCRC -

Participant ID
# Appendix E. Tribal Representation Form.

Tribal representation: Please circle all that apply and write in the percent blood you have for each tribe. example: Apache <u>1/4</u> , Ponca <u>1/8</u> , Seminole <u>1/2</u>	
Oklahoma Based Tribes:	
Absentee Shawnee Tribe:	Alabama Quassarte Tribal Town:
Apache Tribe:	Caddo Tribe:
Cherokee Nation:	Cheyenne-Arapaho Tribes:
Chickasaw Nation:	Choctaw Nation:
Citizen Potawatomi Nation:	Comanche Nation:
Delaware Nation:	Eastern Shawnee Tribe:
Fort Sill Apache Tribe:	Iowa Tribe of Oklahoma:
Kaw Nation of Oklahoma:	Kialegee Tribal Town:
Kickapoo Tribe of Oklahoma:	Kiowa Tribe:
Miami Nation:	Modoc Tribe:
Muscogee Creek Nation:	Osage Nation:
Otoe-Missouria Tribe:	Ottawa Tribe:
Pawnee Nation of Oklahoma:	Peoria Tribe of Indians of Oklahoma:
Ponca Nation:	Quapaw Tribe of Oklahoma:
Sac & Fox Nation:	Seminole Nation:
Shawnee Tribe:	Seneca-Cayuga Tribe of Oklahoma:
Thlopthlocco Tribal Town:	Tonkawa Tribe:
Wichita & Affiliated Tribes:	United Keetoowah Band of Cherokees:
Wyandotte Nation:	Euchee Tribe of Indians:
Please list any other tribes you represent and blood quantum (example: Navajo ¼):	

and a second s

· . . · ·

### Please circle what best describes your total Indian blood quantum:

.

Less than ¼

¼ to less than ½

1/2 to less than 3/4

A to Full Blood

Please list the one tribe which you are enrolled in:

#### VITA

#### Misti J. Leyva

#### Candidate for the Degree of

#### Doctor of Philosophy

## Thesis: TYPE 2 DIABETES EXACERBATES BONE LOSS IN NATIVE AMERICN WOMEN

Major Field: Nutritional Sciences

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Nutritional Sciences at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in May, 2012.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Nutritional Sciences at the University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma in 2001.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Arts in Psychology at Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas in 1990.

Experience:

2011 Bionutritionist, Harold Hamm Diabetes Center at the University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK

2002-2011 Director of Nutrition Research, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center- General Clinical Research Center, Oklahoma City, OK

2007-Current Assistant Professor, College of Medicine, University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Oklahoma City, OK

**Professional Memberships:** 

2009-present American Society for Bone and Mineral Research

1999-present American Dietetic Association

1999-present Oklahoma Dietetic Association

Name: Misti J. Leyva

Date of Degree: May, 2012

Institution: Oklahoma State University

Location: Stillwater, Oklahoma

#### Title of Study: TYPE 2 DIABETES EXACERBATES BONE LOSS IN NATIVE AMERICAN WOMEN

Pages in Study: 104

Candidate for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Major Field: Nutritional Sciences

Scope and Method of Study: Recent evidence suggests a relationship between type 2 diabetes and an increased risk of fracture. Native Americans are known to have a high prevalence of type 2 diabetes (i.e. ~2 times the national average), but the availability of evidence regarding fracture risk is limited in this population. This study was designed to examine the extent to which type 2 diabetes affects change in BMD and bone metabolism in Native American women. Participants included Native American women (n=123) 50 years of age and older, defined by their eligibility to receive services at an Indian Health Clinic. Of the total, 36% (n=44) reported a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes to which the DM group was stratified by years post-diagnosis due to the potential for increased risk of fracture with longer diabetes duration. Baseline and final visits included DXA scans to determine BMD, relevant medical history and anthropometric measures. In addition, an optional serum sample was collected for measures of bone metabolism indicators, 25-hydroxyvitamin D3, and inflammatory mediators (e.g. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6).

Findings and Conclusions: DXA results revealed increased BMD in the hip regions of the DM group and more specifically the DM<10 years duration group. In fact the stratification of the diabetes group by duration supports the possibility of a biphasic effect evidenced by increasing BMD in the hip region the first 10 years post-diagnosis, followed by significant decreases in the same region after the first decade following diabetes diagnosis. No differences in BMD were observed in the spine or forearm regions. The only difference observed in bone metabolism was decreased CTX in the all DM group. No differences were observed between groups in inflammatory mediators or vitamin D concentrations. These findings suggest a need to clarify the use of standard methods for assessing fracture risk using BMD in type 2 diabetes due to biphasic effects of diabetes with duration. Additionally, mechanisms affecting bone metabolism in non DM models may not function similarly in a diabetic environment. Finally, it remains to be determined if differences in this study, or lack of differences, is due to innate differences within the Native American population.